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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-looking Statements
This interim report includes statements that express our opinions, expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, assumptions or projections regarding
future events or future results and therefore are, or may be deemed to be, “forward-looking statements.” These forward-looking statements can
generally be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, including the terms “believes,” “estimates,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “seeks,”
“projects,” “intends,” “plans,” “may,” “will” or “should” or, in each case, their negative or other variations or comparable terminology. These
forward-looking statements include all matters that are not historical facts. They appear in a number of places throughout this interim report and
include statements regarding our intentions, beliefs or current expectations concerning, among other things, anticipated cost savings, results of
operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth, strategies and the markets in which we operate. Such forward-looking statements are
based on available current market material and management’s expectations, beliefs and forecasts concerning future events impacting us. Factors
that may impact such forward-looking statements include:
•

our ability to make, consummate and integrate acquisitions, including the DRG acquisition, and realize any expected benefits or
effects of any acquisitions or the timing, final purchase price, costs associated with achieving synergies or integration or
consummation of any acquisitions, including the DRG acquisition;

•

our ability to compete in the highly competitive markets in which we operate, and potential adverse effects of this competition;

•

our ability to maintain revenues if our products and services do not achieve and maintain broad market acceptance, or if we are
unable to keep pace with or adapt to rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards and changing regulatory
requirements;

•

our ability to achieve all expected benefits from the items reflected in the adjustments included in Standalone Adjusted EBITDA, a
non-GAAP measure;

•

our ability to achieve operational cost improvements and other anticipated benefits of our merger with Churchill Capital Corp in
2019;

•

our dependence on third parties, including public sources, for data, information and other services;

•

increased accessibility to free or relatively inexpensive information sources;

•

our ability to maintain high annual revenue renewal rates as recurring subscription-based arrangements generate a significant
percentage of our revenues;

•

any significant disruption in or unauthorized access to our computer systems or those of third parties that we utilize in our
operations, including those relating to cybersecurity or arising from cyber-attacks;

•

our reliance on our own and third-party telecommunications, data centers and network systems, as well as the Internet;

•

potential adverse tax consequences resulting from the international scope of our operations, corporate structure and financing
structure;

•

increased risks resulting from our international operations, including from pandemics such as the COVID-19 global public health
crisis;

•

our ability to comply with various trade restrictions, such as sanctions and export controls, resulting from our international
operations;
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•

our ability to comply with the anti-corruption laws of the United States and various international jurisdictions;

•

the United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the EU;

•

government and agency demand for our products and services and our ability to comply with government contracting regulations;

•

changes in legislation and regulation, which may impact how we provide products and services and how we collect and use
information, particularly relating to the use of personal data;

•

actions by governments that restrict access to our platform in their countries;

•

potential intellectual property infringement claims;

•

our ability to operate in a litigious environment;

•

our potential need to recognize impairment charges related to goodwill, identified intangible assets and fixed assets;

•

our ability to make timely and accurate financial disclosure and maintain effective systems of internal controls;

•

our substantial indebtedness, which could adversely affect our financial condition, limit our ability to raise additional capital to
fund our operations and prevent us from fulfilling our obligations under our indebtedness; and

•

other factors beyond our control, including the impact from Covid-19.

The forward-looking statements contained in this interim report are based on our current expectations and beliefs concerning future developments
and their potential effects on us. There can be no assurance that future developments affecting us will be those that we have anticipated. These
forward-looking statements involve a number of risks and uncertainties (some of which are beyond our control) or other assumptions that may
cause actual results or performance to be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These risks and
uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those factors described under the heading “Item 1A. Risk Factors.” Should one or more of these risks
or uncertainties materialize, or should any of the assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary in material respects from those projected in
these forward-looking statements. We will not undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of
new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws.
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Note on Defined Terms and Presentation
We employ a number of defined terms in this interim report for clarity and ease of reference, which we have capitalized so that you may recognize
them as such. Generally, we explain a defined term the first time it is used. As used throughout this interim report, unless otherwise indicated or the
context otherwise requires, the terms “Clarivate,” the “Company,” “our,” “us” and “we” refer to Clarivate Analytics Plc and its consolidated
subsidiaries; “Baring” refers to the affiliated funds of Baring Private Equity Asia Pte Ltd that from time to time hold our ordinary shares; and
“Onex” refers to the affiliates of Onex Partners Advisor LP that from time to time hold our ordinary shares.
Unless otherwise indicated, dollar amounts throughout this interim report are presented in thousands of dollars, except for share and per share
amounts.
Website and Social Media Disclosure
We use our website (www.clarivate.com) and corporate Twitter account (@Clarivate) as routine channels of distribution of company information,
including news releases, analyst presentations, and supplemental financial information, as a means of disclosing material non-public information
and for complying with our disclosure obligations under Regulation FD promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”)
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).
Accordingly, investors should monitor our website and our corporate Twitter account in addition to following press releases, SEC filings, and
public conference calls and webcasts. Additionally, we provide notifications of news or announcements as part of our investor relations website.
Investors and others can receive notifications of new information posted on our investor relations website in real time by signing up for email
alerts.
None of the information provided on our website, in our press releases, public conference calls, and webcasts, or through social media channels is
incorporated into, or deemed to be a part of, this interim report or in any other report or document we file with the SEC, and any references to our
website or our social media channels are intended to be inactive textual references only.
Foreign Private Issuer Status and Financial Presentation
We currently qualify as a foreign private issuer (“FPI”) under the rules of the SEC. We currently anticipate that we will retain FPI status until at
least December 31, 2020. However, even though we qualify as an FPI, we report our financial results in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”) and, we have elected to file our periodic and current reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K.
Industry and Market Data
The market data and other statistical information used throughout this interim report are based on industry publications and surveys, public filings
and various government sources. Industry publications and surveys generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from
sources believed to be reliable, but there can be no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of the included information. Statements as to our
ranking, market position and market estimates (including estimates of the sizes and future growth rates of our markets) are based on independent
industry publications, government publications, third-party forecasts and management’s good faith estimates and assumptions about our markets
and our internal research. We have not independently verified such third-party information nor have we ascertained the underlying economic
assumptions relied upon in those sources, and we are unable to assure you of the accuracy or completeness of such information contained in this
interim report. While we are not aware of any misstatements regarding our market, industry or similar data presented herein, such data involve risks
and uncertainties and are subject to change based on various factors. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and “Cautionary Statement Regarding ForwardLooking Statements” in this interim report.
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PART I. Financial Information
Item 1. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
CLARIVATE ANALYTICS PLC
Interim Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share data)
March 31,
2020

December 31,
2019

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Restricted cash

308,021

$

76,130

2,850

9

343,177

333,858

Prepaid expenses

52,101

40,710

Other current assets

22,099

11,750

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $15,072 and $16,511 at March 31, 2020
and December 31, 2019, respectively

Asset held for sale
Total current assets
Computer hardware and other property, net

—

30,619

728,248

493,076

22,953

18,042

Other intangible assets, net

2,282,348

1,828,640

Goodwill

1,823,084

1,328,045

Other non-current assets

22,818

18,632

Deferred income taxes

15,646

19,488

Operating lease right-of-use assets
Total Assets

103,995

85,448

$

4,999,092

$

3,791,371

$

28,583

$

26,458

Liabilities and Shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

239,661

159,217

Current portion of deferred revenues

472,101

407,325

Current portion of operating lease liabilities

25,375

22,130

Current portion of long-term debt

12,600

9,000

Liabilities held for sale
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt

—

26,868

778,320

650,998

1,915,452

1,628,611

Non-current portion of deferred revenues

18,774

19,723

Other non-current liabilities

18,553

18,891

Deferred income taxes

94,638

48,547

Operating lease liabilities

80,229

64,189

2,905,966

2,430,959

3,033,033

2,208,529

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Ordinary Shares, no par value; unlimited shares authorized at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019;
364,938,052 and 306,874,115 shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
respectively;
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

(13,349)

Accumulated deficit

(926,558)

Total shareholders’ equity
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ equity

(4,879)
(843,238)

2,093,126
$

4,999,092

1,360,412
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

3,791,371
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CLARIVATE ANALYTICS PLC
Interim Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Three Months Ended March 31,
2020
Revenues, net

$

2019
240,592

$

234,025

Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of revenues, excluding depreciation and amortization

(82,399)

(89,267)

Selling, general and administrative costs, excluding depreciation and amortization

(86,948)

(92,296)

Share-based compensation expense

(17,469)

(3,176)

Depreciation

(2,329)

(2,051)

Amortization

(49,112)

(56,106)

Transaction expenses

(26,689)

(10,270)

Transition, integration and other related expenses

(2,232)

(1,161)

Restructuring

(7,754)

Other operating income (expense), net

—

6,032

Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest expense, net
Loss before income tax
Provision for income taxes

(5,617)

(268,900)

(259,944)

(28,308)

(25,919)

(30,940)

(33,101)

(59,248)

(59,020)

(14,753)

Net loss

(240)

$

(74,001)

$

(59,260)

$

(0.22)

$

(0.27)

Per Share
Basic and diluted
Weighted-average shares outstanding
Basic and diluted

343,129,833

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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217,526,426

CLARIVATE ANALYTICS PLC
Interim Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) (Unaudited)
(In thousands)

Three Months Ended March 31,
2020
Net loss

$

2019
(74,001)

$

(59,260)

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:
Interest rate swaps

(2,890)

Actuarial gain (loss)

(1,946)

(67)

Foreign currency translation adjustments

19

(5,513)

Total other comprehensive loss, net of tax

(1,824)

(8,470)
$

Comprehensive loss

(82,471)

(3,751)
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(63,011)

CLARIVATE ANALYTICS PLC
Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share data)

Ordinary Shares
Shares
Balance at December 31, 2018, as originally reported

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

$

$

Total
Shareholders’
Equity

Amount

1,646,223 $

1,677,510

5,358

(632,261 )

$

Conversion of units of share capital

215,880,202

—

—

Balance at December 31, 2018, as recasted

217,526,425

1,677,510

5,358

2

—

—

—

—

Share-based award activity

—

3,176

—

—

3,176

Net Loss

—

—

Comprehensive loss

—

—

Issuance of ordinary shares, net

—

1,050,607
—

(632,261 )

—

1,050,607

(59,260 )

(3,751 )

(59,260 )

—

(3,751 )

Balance at March 31, 2019

217,526,427 $

1,680,686

$

1,607

$

(691,521 )

$

990,772

Balance at December 31, 2019

306,874,115 $

2,208,529

$

(4,879 )

$

(843,238 )

$

1,360,412

Adjustment to opening Accumulated deficit related to adoption of ASC
Topic 326

—

—

—

58,063,937

808,120

—

Share-based award activity

—

16,384

—

Net Loss

—

—

—

Comprehensive loss

—

—

Issuance of ordinary shares, net

Balance at March 31, 2020

364,938,052 $

3,033,033

(9,319 )

(13,349 )

—

16,384
(74,001 )

—
$

(926,558 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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808,120

(74,001 )

(8,470 )
$

(9,319 )

—

(8,470 )
$

2,093,126

CLARIVATE ANALYTICS PLC
Interim Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
(In thousands)

Three Months Ended March 31,
2020

2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss

$

(74,001)

$

(59,260)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Allowance for doubtful accounts and credit losses
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)

51,441

58,157

—

689

4,214

(3,946)

16,502

3,176

Deferred finance charges

1,008

2,099

Other operating activities

(7,015)

5,440

Accounts receivable

29,279

(13,362)

Prepaid expenses

(7,349)

(9,813)

Other assets

54,644

(1,507)

Share-based compensation

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Deferred revenue
Operating lease right of use assets
Operating lease liabilities
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

758

4,942

(12,035)

(9,049)

40,726

68,929

5,919

5,696

(5,876)

(5,750)

(52,109)

(3,988)

46,106

42,453

(19,395)

(5,957)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures
Acquisition, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from sale of product line, net of restricted cash
Net cash used in investing activities

(885,323)
3,751
(900,967)

—
—
(5,957)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of principal on long-term debt
Repayment of revolving credit facility
Contingent purchase price payment
Payment of debt issuance costs

(3,150)

(3,836)

(65,000)

(30,000)

(4,115)
(5,014)

Proceeds from issuance of debt

360,000

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares

540,597

Payments related to tax withholding for stock-based compensation

(10,420)

Issuance of ordinary shares, net
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash

278,708
1,091,606
(2,013)

—
—

—
—
—
(33,836)
(190)

234,732

2,470

76,130

25,575

9

9

76,139

25,584

310,871

28,054

Beginning of period:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Total cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of period

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

10

308,021

28,045

2,850
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CLARIVATE ANALYTICS PLC
Interim Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
(In thousands)

Three Months Ended March 31,
2020

2019

$

310,871

$

28,054

Cash paid for interest

$

11,405

$

21,023

Cash paid for income tax

$

4,797

$

7,789

Capital expenditures included in accounts payable

$

9,528

$

6,836

Total cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of period

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CLARIVATE ANALYTICS PLC
Notes to Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data, option price amounts, ratios, or as noted)
Note 1: Background and Nature of Operations
Clarivate Analytics Plc (“Clarivate,” “us,” “we,” “our,” or the “Company”), a public limited company organized under the laws of Jersey, Channel
Islands, was incorporated as a Jersey limited company on January 7, 2019. Pursuant to the definitive agreement entered into to effect a merger
between Camelot Holdings (Jersey) Limited ("Jersey") and Churchill Capital Corp, a Delaware corporation, ("Churchill") (the “2019 Transaction”),
the Company was formed for the purposes of completing the 2019 Transaction and related transitions and carrying on the business of Jersey, and
its subsidiaries.
The Company is a provider of proprietary and comprehensive content, analytics, professional services and workflow solutions that enables users
across government and academic institutions, life science companies and research and development (“R&D”) intensive corporations to discover,
protect and commercialize their innovations. Our Science Product Group consists of our Web of Science and Life Science Product Lines. Both
Product Lines provide curated, high-value, structured information that is delivered and embedded into the workflows of our customers, which
include research intensive corporations, life science organizations and universities world-wide. Our Intellectual Property ("IP") Product Group
consists of our Derwent, CompuMark and MarkMonitor Product Lines. These Product Lines help manage customer’s end-to-end portfolios of
intellectual property from patents to trademarks to corporate website domains.
In January 2019, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (as amended by Amendment No. 1 to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated
February 26, 2019, and Amendment No. 2 to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated March 29, 2019, collectively, the “Merger Agreement”) by
and among Churchill, Jersey, CCC Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Clarivate (“Delaware Merger Sub”),
Camelot Merger Sub (Jersey) Limited, a private limited company organized under the laws of Jersey, Channel Islands and wholly owned subsidiary
of Clarivate (“Jersey Merger Sub”), and the Company, which, among other things, provided for (i) Jersey Merger Sub to be merged with and into
Jersey with Jersey being the surviving company in the merger (the “Jersey Merger”) and (ii) Delaware Merger Sub to be merged with and into
Churchill with Churchill being the surviving corporation in the merger (the “Delaware Merger”), and together with the Jersey Merger, the
“Mergers”.
On May 13, 2019, the 2019 Transaction was consummated, and Clarivate became the sole managing member of Jersey, operating and controlling all
of the business and affairs of Jersey, through Jersey and its subsidiaries. Following the consummation of the 2019 Transaction on May 13, 2019,
the Company’s ordinary shares and warrants began trading on the New York Stock Exchange.
The 2019 Transaction was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). Under this method of accounting Churchill was treated as the "acquired" company for financial reporting
purposes. This determination was primarily based on post 2019 Transaction relative voting rights, composition of the governing board, size of the
two entities pre-merger, and intent of the 2019 Transaction. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the 2019 Transaction was treated as the
equivalent of the Company issuing stock for the net assets of Churchill. The net assets of Churchill, were stated at historical cost, with no goodwill
or other intangible assets resulting from the 2019 Transaction. Reported amounts from operations included herein prior to the 2019 Transaction are
those of Jersey.
In February 2020, the Company consummated a public offering of 27,600,000 ordinary shares at $20.25 per share. After this offering, Onex
Corporation and Baring Private Equity Asia Limited ("BPEA") continue to beneficially own approximately 38.3% of the Company’s ordinary
shares, down from approximately 70.8% of the ordinary shares beneficially owned by Onex and BPEA immediately after the closing of our merger
with Churchill Capital Corp in 2019.
Risks and Uncertainties
In March 2020, the World Health Organization characterized COVID-19 as a pandemic. The rapid spread of COVID-19 and the continuously
evolving responses to combat it have had an increasingly negative impact on the global economy. In view of the rapidly changing business
environment, market volatility and heightened degree of uncertainty resulting from COVID-19, we are currently unable to fully determine its future
impact on our business.
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CLARIVATE ANALYTICS PLC
Notes to Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data, option price amounts, ratios, or as noted)
However, we continue to assess the potential effect on our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows. If the global pandemic
continues to evolve into a prolonged crisis, the effects could have an adverse impact on the Company's results of operations, financial condition
and cash flows.
Note 2: Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). The Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements do not include all of
the information or notes necessary for a complete presentation in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Accordingly, these Interim Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s annual financial statements as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2019. The results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are not necessarily indicative of the operating
results for the full year.
In the opinion of management, the interim financial data includes all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a
fair statement of the results for the interim periods presented. The Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company include
the accounts of all of its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Company has control, where control is defined as the power to
govern financial and operating policies. Generally, the Company has a shareholding of more than 50% of the voting rights in its subsidiaries. The
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable are considered when assessing whether control exists. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date control is transferred to the Company, and are de-consolidated from the date control ceases. Intercompany accounts
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The U.S. dollar is the Company's reporting currency. As such, the financial statements are
reported on a U.S. dollar basis.
Note 3: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Our significant accounting policies are those that we believe are important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations, as
well as those that involve significant judgments or estimates about matters that are inherently uncertain. There have been no material changes to
the significant accounting policies discussed in “Item 8. – Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements – Note 3” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, which was filed with the SEC on March 2,
2020 (the "Annual Report"), except as noted below.
Accounts Receivable
Through the adoption of ASU 2016-13 and the related standards, the Company revised the policy regarding the recognition of expected credit
losses and for our accounts receivables portfolio as follows.
Accounts receivable are recorded at the amount invoiced to customers and do not bear interest. The Company estimates credit losses for trade
receivables by aggregating similar customer types together, because they tend to share similar credit risk characteristics, taking into consideration
the number of days the receivable is past due. Provision rates for the allowance for doubtful accounts are based upon the historical loss method
by evaluating factors such as the length of time receivables that are past due and historical collection experience. Additionally, provision rates are
based upon current and future economic and competitive environment factors that could impact the collectability of the receivable. Trade and
other receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include past due status greater than 360 days or bankruptcy of the debtor.
Newly Adopted Accounting Standards
FASB issued new guidance, ASU 2016-13 and various other related issuances, related to measurement of credit losses on financial instruments
which requires the measurement and recognition of expected credit losses for financial assets held at amortized cost. This new guidance replaces
the existing incurred loss impairment model with an expected loss methodology, which will result in more timely recognition of credit losses. The
Company has determined that the impact of this new accounting guidance will primarily affect our trade receivables. The Company prospectively
adopted the standard on January 1, 2020. The adoption of this standard had an impact of $9,319 on the beginning Accumulated deficit balance in
the Interim Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of January 1, 2020.
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In April 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-04, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, which provides targeted improvements or clarification and
correction to the ASU 2016-01 Financial Instruments Overall, ASU 2016-13 Financial Instruments Credit Losses, and ASU 2017-12 Derivatives and
Hedging accounting standards updates that were previously issued. The guidance is effective upon adoption of the related standards. The
company prospective adopted the standard on January 1, 2020. This standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s Interim Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued guidance, ASU 2018-15, which aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting
arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use
software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal use software license). The accounting for the service element of a hosting
arrangement that is a service contract is not affected by the amendments in this update. The Company prospectively adopted the standard on
January 1, 2020. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements. All future capitalized implementation costs incurred related to these hosting arrangements will be recorded as a prepaid asset and as a
charge to operating expenses over the expected life of the contract.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
Except as noted below, there have been no material changes from the recently issued accounting standards previously disclosed in the Annual
Report. Please refer to “Item 8. – Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – Note 3” section
of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of the recently issued accounting standards that relate to the Company.
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform, which provide optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to
contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions affected by reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. The guidance is effective for all
entities during the period March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. The Company is currently in the process of evaluating the potential impact
of the adoption of this standard on its Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
Note 4: Business Combinations
On May 13, 2019, the Company completed the 2019 Transaction. Jersey began operations in 2016 as a provider of proprietary and comprehensive
content, analytics, professional services and workflow solutions that enables users across government and academic institutions, life science
companies and R&D intensive corporations to discover, protect and commercialize their innovations. Churchill was a special purpose acquisition
company whose business was to effect a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase reorganization or similar business
combination. The shares and earnings per share available to holders of the Company’s ordinary shares, prior to the 2019 Transaction, have been
recasted as shares reflecting the exchange ratio established in the 2019 Transaction (1.0 Jersey share to 132.13667 Clarivate shares).
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, the aggregate stock consideration issued by the Company in the 2019 Transaction was $3,052,500, consisting
of 305,250,000 newly issued ordinary shares of the Company valued at $10.00 per share, subject to certain adjustments described below. Of the
$3,052,500, the shareholders of Jersey prior to the closing of the 2019 Transaction (the “Company Owners”) received $2,175,000 in the form of
217,500,000 newly issued ordinary shares of the Company. In addition, of the $3,052,500, Churchill public shareholders received $690,000 in the
form of 68,999,999 newly issued ordinary shares of the Company. In addition, Churchill Sponsor LLC (the “sponsor”) received $187,500 in the form
of 17,250,000 ordinary shares of the Company issued to the sponsor, and 1,500,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company were issued to
certain investors. See Note 14 — "Shareholders' Equity" for further information.
Upon consummation of the 2019 Transaction, each outstanding share of common stock of Churchill was converted into one ordinary share of the
Company. At the closing of the 2019 Transaction, the Company Owners held approximately 74% of the issued and outstanding ordinary shares of
the Company and stockholders of Churchill held approximately 26% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company excluding the impact of
(i) 52,800,000 warrants, (ii) approximately 24,806,793 compensatory options issued to the Company's management (based on number of options to
purchase Jersey ordinary shares outstanding immediately prior to the 2019
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Transaction, after giving effect to the exchange ratio described above) and (iii) 10,600,000 ordinary shares of Clarivate owned of record by the
sponsor and available for distribution to certain individuals following the applicable lock-up and vesting restrictions.
Certain restrictions were removed following the Secondary Offering on August 14, 2019. See Note 15 — "Employment and Compensation
Arrangements" for further information. After giving effect to the satisfaction of the vesting restrictions, the Company Owners held approximately
60% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company at the close of the 2019 Transaction. See Note 14 — "Shareholders' Equity" for further
information on equity instruments.
Acquisition of Decision Resources Group
On February 28, 2020, we acquired 100% of the assets, liabilities and equity interests of Decision Resources Group ("DRG"), a premier provider of
high-value data, analytics and insights products and services to the healthcare industry, from Piramal Enterprises Limited ("PEL"), which is a part
of global business conglomerate Piramal Group. The acquisition helps us expand our core businesses and provides us with the potential to grow in
the Life Sciences Product Line.
The aggregate consideration paid in connection with the closing of the DRG acquisition was $964,997, comprised of $900,000 of base cash plus
$6,100 of adjusted closing cash paid on the closing date and up to 2,895,638 of the Company's ordinary shares to be issued to PEL following the
one-year anniversary of closing. The contingent stock consideration was valued at $58,897 on the closing date and will be revalued at each period
end. As of March 31, 2020, the fair value of the contingent stock consideration increased by $1,187 which was recorded to Transaction expenses in
the Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations and increased the corresponding liability to $60,084 which was recorded to Accrued
expenses and other current liabilities in the Interim Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet. See Note 18 — "Commitments and Contingencies” for
more information. The DRG acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. The excess of the purchase price over the
net tangible and intangible assets is recorded to Goodwill and primarily reflects the assembled workforce and expected synergies. Goodwill is not
deductible for tax purposes. Total transaction costs incurred in connection with the acquisition of DRG were $19,762 for the three months ended
March 31, 2020.
The amount of Revenues, net and Net loss resulting from the acquisition that are attributable to the Company's stockholders and included in the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income during the three months ended March 31, 2020 were as follows:
Revenues, net (1)
Net loss attributable to the Company's stockholders

$
$

(1) Includes $1,534 of a deferred revenue haircut recognized during the quarter ended March 31, 2020.
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The purchase price allocation for this acquisition as of the close date of February 28, 2020 is preliminary and may change upon completion of the
determination of fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The following table summarizes the preliminary purchase price allocation for
this acquisition:
Total
Current assets
Computer hardware and other property
Other intangible assets(1)
Other non-current assets
Operating lease right-of-use assets

$

124,489
4,302
491,366
2,960
25,099

Total assets

$

648,216

Current liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Current portion of deferred revenue
Deferred income taxes
Non-current portion of deferred revenue
Other non-current liabilities
Operating lease liabilities

3,474
37,930
35,126
47,467
628
52,908
25,529

Total liabilities

203,062
$

Fair value of acquired identifiable assets and liabilities

445,154

(1)Includes $3,966 of internally developed software in progress acquired.

Purchase price, net of cash(2)

944,220

Less: Fair value of acquired identifiable assets and liabilities

445,154
$

Goodwill

499,066

(2)The Company acquired cash of $20,777.

The identifiable intangible assets acquired are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The following table summarizes
the estimated fair value of DRG’s identifiable intangible assets acquired and their remaining weighted-average amortization period (in years):

Customer Relationships
Database and Content
Trade names
Purchased Software
Backlog

Fair Value as of
February 28, 2020
$
381,000
50,200
5,200
23,000
28,000

Total identifiable intangible assets

$

Remaining
Weighted - Average
Amortization
Period (in years)
17.6
4.7
4.0
6.4
4.0

487,400

Unaudited pro forma information for the Company for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 as if the acquisition had occurred January
1, 2019 is as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2020
Pro forma revenues, net
Pro forma net loss attributable to the Company's stockholders

2019
265,341
(64,438)
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The unaudited pro forma financial information has been presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of results of
operations that would have been achieved had the acquisition taken place on the date indicated, or the future consolidated results of operations of
the Company. The pro forma financial information presented above has been derived from the historical condensed consolidated financial
statements of the Company and from the historical accounting records of DRG.
The unaudited pro forma results include certain pro forma adjustments to revenue and net loss that were directly attributable to the acquisition,
assuming the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2019, including the following: (i) additional amortization expense that would have been
recognized relating to the acquired intangible assets, (ii) adjustments to interest expense to reflect the removal of DRG debt and the additional
Company borrowings in conjunction with the acquisition, (iii) acquisition-related transaction costs and other one-time non-recurring costs which
reduced expenses by $24,926 for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and increased expenses by $25,365 for the three months ended March 31,
2019.
Note 5: Divested Operations
On November 3, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with OpSec Security for the sale of certain assets and liabilities of its MarkMonitor
Product Line within its IP Group. The divestiture closed on January 1, 2020 for a total purchase price of $3,751. An impairment charge of $18,431
was recognized in the Statement of Operations during the fourth quarter 2019 to write down the Assets and Liabilities of the disposal group to fair
value. Of the total impairment charge, $17,967 related to the write down of intangible assets and $468 to the write down of goodwill. There was an
immaterial loss on the divestiture recorded to Other income (expense), net during the three months ended March 31, 2020. The Company used the
proceeds for general business purposes.
The divestiture does not represent a strategic shift and did not have a major effect on the Company’s operations or financial results, as defined by
ASC 205-20, Discontinued Operations; as a result, the divestitures did not meet the criteria to be classified as discontinued operations.
Note 6: Accounts Receivable
Our accounts receivable balance consists of the following as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019:

Accounts receivable
Less: Accounts receivable allowance

March 31,

December 31,

2020

2019
358,249
(15,072)

$

Accounts receivable, net

343,177

350,369
(16,511)
$

333,858

The Company estimates credit losses for trade receivables by aggregating similar customer types together, because they tend to share similar
credit risk characteristics, taking into consideration the number of days the receivable is past due. Provision rates for the allowance for doubtful
accounts are based upon the historical loss method by evaluating factors such as the length of time receivables that are past due and historical
collection experience. Additionally, provision rates are based upon current and future economic and competitive environment factors that could
impact the collectability of the receivable. Trade and other receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include past due status greater than 360 days or bankruptcy of the debtor. The
activity in our accounts receivable allowance consists of the following for the three months ended March 31, 2020, and the year ended 2019,
respectively.
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March 31,
2020
Balance at beginning of year
Additional provisions
Write-offs
Opening balance sheet adjustment related to ASU 2016 -13 adoption
Exchange differences

16,511
—
(11,043)
10,097
(493)
$

Balance at the end of year

15,072

The potential for credit losses is mitigated because customer creditworthiness is evaluated before credit is extended.
The Company recorded write-offs against the reserve of $11,043 and $2,321 for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and the year ended 2019,
respectively.
We are monitoring the impacts from the COVID-19 pandemic on our customers and various counterparties. During the three months ended March
31, 2020, the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts and credit losses considered additional risk related to the pandemic. However, this risk
to-date was not material.
Note 7: Computer Hardware and Other Property, net
Computer hardware and other property, net consisted of the following:

March 31, 2020
Computer hardware

$

Leasehold improvements
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Total computer hardware and other property
Accumulated depreciation
$

Total computer hardware and other property, net

December 31, 2019

26,982

$

24,620

15,352

12,496

6,175

4,412

48,509

41,528

(25,556)

(23,486)

22,953

$

18,042

Depreciation expense amounted to $2,329 and $2,051 for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Note 8: Other Intangible Assets, net and Goodwill
Other Intangible Assets, net
The following tables summarize the gross carrying amounts and accumulated amortization of the Company’s identifiable intangible assets by major
class:
March 31, 2020

December 31, 2019

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross

Net

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross

Net

Finite-lived intangible assets
Customer relationships

$

Databases and content
Computer software
Trade names

656,500

$

Finite-lived intangible assets

$

473,735

$

280,493

$

(180,571)

$

99,922

(370,220)

1,431,949

1,755,323

(342,385)

1,412,938

330,318

(152,114)

178,204

285,701

(135,919)

149,782

6,770

1,570

6,770

Backlog

(182,765)

1,802,169

—

27,999

(584)

27,415

—

2,823,756

(705,683)

2,118,073

2,323,087

164,275

164,428

—

—
(658,875)

1,570
—
1,664,212

Indefinite-lived intangible assets
164,275

Trade names
Total intangible assets

$

2,988,031

—
$

(705,683)

$

2,282,348

$

2,487,515

—
$

(658,875)

164,428
$ 1,828,640
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Amortization expense amounted to $49,112 and $56,106 for the three months ended March 31, 2020, and 2019, respectively.

Goodwill
The following table summarizes changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the three months ended March 31, 2020:
Total
Balance as of December 31, 2019
Acquisitions

$

1,328,045
499,067
(4,028)

$

1,823,084

Changes due to foreign currency fluctuations
Balance as of March 31, 2020
Note 9: Derivative Instruments

Effective March 31, 2017, the Company entered into interest rate swap arrangements with counterparties to reduce its exposure to variability in
cash flows relating to interest payments on $300,000 of its outstanding Term Loan arrangements. Additionally, effective February 28, 2018, the
Company entered into another interest rate swap relating to interest payments on $50,000 of its outstanding Term Loan arrangements. These
hedging instruments mature on March 31, 2021. The Company applies hedge accounting by designating the interest rate swaps as a hedge on
applicable future quarterly interest payments.
In April 2019, the Company entered into interest rate swap arrangements with counterparties to reduce its exposure to variability in cash flows
relating to interest payments on $50,000 of its term loans, effective April 30, 2021. Additionally, in May 2019, the Company entered into additional
interest rate swap arrangements with counterparties to reduce its exposure to variability in cash flows relating to interest payments on $100,000 of
its term loan, effective March 2021. Both of these derivatives have notional amounts that amortize downward, and both have a maturity of
September 2023. The Company will apply hedge accounting by designating the interest rate swaps as a hedge in applicable future quarterly
interest payments. The Company will apply hedge accounting by designating the interest rate swaps as a hedge in applicable future quarterly
interest payments. Changes in the fair value are recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ("AOCI") and the amounts
reclassified out of AOCI are recorded to Interest expense, net. The fair value of the interest rate swaps is recorded in Other non-current assets or
liabilities according to the duration of related cash flows. The total fair value of the interest rate swaps was a liability of $8,372 at March 31, 2020
and a liability of $2,778 at December 31, 2019.
In March 2020, the Company amended all of its interest rate derivatives to reduce the 1% LIBOR floor to a 0% LIBOR floor. For the current
derivatives, all other terms and conditions remain unchanged. In total, the company collected $1,737 for the amendments of these derivatives, $533
of which was collected in April 2020. For the two
forward starting swaps, an adjustment was made to reduce the weighted average fixed rate from 2.183% at December 31, 2019 to 1.695% at the
amendment date.
For the three months ended March 31, 2020, the Company had a period of ineffectiveness related to the cash flow hedges. The ineffectiveness was
due to a drop in LIBOR rates below the LIBOR floor defined per the credit facilities, which were amended as of March 31, 2020 resulting in a highly
effective hedge. As a result of the ineffectiveness, the Company recognized a loss of $979 which was recorded to Interest expense, net on the
Statement of Operations. As of March 31, 2020 there was no hedge ineffectiveness associated with the Company’s interest rate swaps.
See Note 10 — "Fair Value Measurements" for additional information on derivative instruments.
The following table summarizes the changes in AOCI (net of tax) related to cash flow hedges for the three months ended March 31, 2020:
AOCI balance at December 31, 2019

$

Derivative gains (losses) recognized in other comprehensive income (loss)

(3,160)
270

Amount reclassified out of other comprehensive income (loss) to net loss
AOCI balance at March 31, 2020

(2,778)

$

(5,668)

The following table summarizes the changes in AOCI (net of tax) related to cash flow hedges for the three months ended March 31, 2019:
AOCI balance at December 31, 2018

$

Derivative gains (losses) recognized in other comprehensive income (loss)

430

Amount reclassified out of other comprehensive income (loss) to net loss
AOCI balance at March 31, 2019

3,644
(2,376)

$

1,698

Note 10: Fair Value Measurements
The Company records certain assets and liabilities at fair value. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. A three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value is described below. This hierarchy
requires entities to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The three levels of inputs used to measure
fair value are as follows:
•

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

•

Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices include in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active
markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can
be corroborated by observable market data.

•

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are support by little or no market activity. This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow
methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used in determining fair value:
Derivatives - Derivatives consist of interest rate swaps. The fair value of the interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that the Company would
receive or pay to terminate such agreements, taking into account market interest rates and the remaining time to maturities or using market inputs
with mid-market pricing as a practical expedient for bid-ask spread. See Note 9 — "Derivative Instruments" for additional information.
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Contingent consideration - The Company values contingent cash consideration related to business combinations using a weighted probability
calculation of potential payment scenarios discounted at rates reflective of the risks associated with the expected future cash flows. Key
assumptions used to estimate the fair value of contingent consideration include revenue, net new business and operating forecasts and the
probability of achieving the specific targets. The Company values contingent stock consideration related to business combinations using
observable market data, adjusted for indemnity losses and claims for indemnity losses valued using other indirect market inputs observable in the
marketplace.
The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and other accruals readily convertible
into cash approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of the instruments.
Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
The Company has determined that its interest rate swaps, included in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities and Other non-current
liabilities according to the duration of related cash flows, reside within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
In accordance with ASC 805, we estimated the fair value of the earn-outs using a Monte Carlo simulation for the year ended December 31, 2018.
The amount of the earn-outs approximate fair value due to their short term nature of their remaining payments as of March 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019. This fair value measurement is based on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus represents a Level 3
measurement as defined in ASC 820. As of March 31, 2020, the Company increased the earn out liabilities related to Publons based on current
period performance and paid the remaining earn out liabilities related to TrademarkVision. These acquisitions occurred in 2017 and 2018,
respectively. The amount payable is contingent upon the achievement of certain company specific milestones and performance metrics over a 1year and 3-year period, respectively, including number of cumulative users, cumulative reviews and annual revenue. Changes in the earn out are
recorded to Transaction expenses in the Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations. There were no transfers of assets or liabilities
between levels during the periods ended March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. The earn-out liability is recorded in Accrued expenses and other
current liabilities and Other non-current liabilities and is classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
As of March 31, 2020, the Company maintains a contingent stock liability based on observable market data relating to the DRG acquisition that
occurred on February 28, 2020. Changes in the contingent stock liability are recorded to Transaction expenses in the Interim Condensed
Consolidated Statement of Operations. There were no transfers of assets or liabilities between levels during the periods ended March 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019. The contingent stock liability is recorded in Accrued expenses and other current liability and is classified as Level 2 in the fair
value hierarchy. The amount is payable on the one year anniversary of the acquisition date and is contingent upon any indemnity losses or claims
for indemnity losses as defined in the purchase agreement. This fair value measurement is based observable market data and other indirect
observable market inputs and thus represents a Level 2 measurement as defined in ASC 820.
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The following table presents the changes in the earn-out, the only Level 3 item, for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively:
December 31, 2019
Payment of Earn-out liability (1)

$

11,100
(8,000)
380

$

3,480

Revaluations included in earnings
March 31, 2020

The following table presents the changes in the earn-out, the only Level 3 item, for the three months ended March 31, 2019:
December 31, 2018
Payment of Earn-out liability

$

7,075
—
—

$

7,075

Revaluations included in earnings
March 31, 2019
(1) See Note 18 - “Commitments and Contingencies” for further details

The following table provides a summary of the Company's assets and liabilities that were recognized at fair value on a recurring basis as at
March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019:
Level 1
March 31, 2020
Liabilities
Interest rate swap liability
Earn-out liability

$

Contingent stock liability
Total

$

Level 2

—
—
—

$

—

$

Level 1
December 31, 2019
Liabilities
Interest rate swap liability

8,372
—
60,084

$

68,456

Total Fair Value

$

$

—
3,480
—

8,372
3,480
60,084

$

3,480

$

71,936

Level 2

Level 3

Total Fair Value

$

—
—

$

2,778
—

$

—
11,100

$

2,778
11,100

$

—

$

2,778

$

11,100

$

13,878

Earn-out liability
Total

Level 3

Non-Financial Assets Valued on a Non-Recurring Basis
The Company’s long-lived assets, including goodwill, indefinite-lived intangibles and finite-lived intangible assets subject to amortization, are
measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis. These assets are measured at cost but are written-down to fair value, if necessary, as a result of
impairment.
Finite-lived Intangible Assets - If a triggering event occurs, the Company determines the estimated fair value of finite-lived intangible assets by
determining the present value of the expected cash flows.
Indefinite-lived Intangible Asset - If a qualitative analysis indicates that it is more likely than not that the estimated fair value is less than the
carrying value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset, the Company determines the estimated fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset (trade
name) by determining the present value of the estimated royalty payments on an after-tax basis that it would be required to pay the owner for the
right to use such trade name. If the carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair value, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to the
excess.
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Goodwill - Goodwill represents the difference between the purchase price and the fair value of the identifiable tangible and intangible net assets
resulting from business combinations. The Company evaluates its goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level, defined as an operating
segment or one level below an operating segment, annually as of October 1 or more frequently if impairment indicators arise in accordance with
ASC Topic 350. The Company performs qualitative analysis of macroeconomic conditions, industry and market considerations, internal cost
factors, financial performance, fair value history and other company specific events. If this qualitative analysis indicates that it is more likely than
not that the estimated fair value is less than the book value for the respective reporting unit, the Company applies a two-step impairment test in
which the Company determines whether the estimated fair value of the reporting unit is in excess of its carrying value. If the carrying value of the
net assets assigned to the reporting unit exceeds the estimated fair value of the reporting unit, the Company performs the second step of the
impairment test to determine the implied estimated fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill. The Company determines the implied estimated fair
value of goodwill by determining the present value of the estimated future cash flows for each reporting unit and comparing the reporting unit’s
risk profile and growth prospects to selected, reasonably similar publicly traded companies.
Note 11: Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits
The components of net periodic benefit cost recognized in other comprehensive loss were as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2020
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets

2019

$

226
79
(40)
(19)

$

221
78
(40)
(18)

$

246

$

241

Amortization of actuarial gains
Net periodic benefit cost

Interest cost and expected return on plan assets are recorded in Interest expense, net on the accompanying Interim Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Operations.
Note 12: Debt
The following is a summary of the Company’s debt:
March 31, 2020

Type

Maturity

Interest
Rate

December 31, 2019

Carrying
Value

Interest
Rate

Carrying
Value

Senior secured notes

2026

4.500%

700,000

4.500%

700,000

Term loan facility

2026

4.360%

1,256,850

5.049%

900,000

Revolving credit facility

2024

—%

0

5.049%

65,000

1,956,850

Total debt outstanding

1,665,000

Deferred financing charges

(26,670)

(25,205)

Term loan facility, discount

(2,128)

(2,184)

(12,600)

Short-term debt, including current portion of long-term debt
Long-term debt, net of current portion and deferred financing charges

$

1,915,452

(9,000)
$

1,628,611

In connection with the DRG acquisition, the Company incurred an incremental $360,000 of borrowings under our term loan facility and used the net
proceeds from such borrowings to fund a portion of the DRG acquisition and to pay related fees and expenses. The additional term loan
borrowings are covered by the same terms and covenant requirements of the existing term loan facility as described in the annual form 10-K as of
December 31, 2019.
In addition, the Company secured the backstop of a $950,000 fully committed bridge facility in connection with the DRG acquisition. However, the
Company obtained all required financing with proceeds from the additional term loan borrowings and through a primary equity offering in
February, 2020. As such, the bridge facility remained undrawn through it's expiration on closing of the acquisition.
During the three months ended March 31, 2020, the Company paid down $65,000 on the revolving credit facility. The revolving credit facility has
remained undrawn in the period subsequent to the pay down. The revolving credit facility is subject to a commitment fee of 0.50% per annum.
With respect to the credit facilities, the Company may be subject to certain negative covenants, including compliance with total first lien net

leverage ratio, if certain conditions are met. These conditions were not met and the Company was not required to test compliance with these
covenants as of March 31, 2020.
The obligations of the Borrowers under the credit facilities are guaranteed by UK Holdco and certain of its restricted subsidiaries and are secured
by substantially all of UK Holdco's and certain of its restricted subsidiaries’ assets (with customary exceptions described in the credit facilities).
UK Holdco and its restricted subsidiaries are subject to certain covenants including restrictions on UK Holdco’s ability to pay dividends, incur
indebtedness, grant a lien over its assets, merge or consolidate, make investments, or make payments to affiliates.
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As of March 31, 2020, letters of credit totaling $4,929 were collateralized by the revolving credit facility. Notwithstanding the revolving credit
facility, as of March 31, 2020, the Company had an unsecured corporate guarantee outstanding for $9,646 and cash collateralized letters of credit
totaling $36, all of which were not collateralized by the revolving credit facility. The Company’s cash from operations is expected to meet
repayment needs on outstanding borrowings for a period of 12 months after the financial statement issuance date.
The carrying value of the Company’s variable interest rate debt, excluding unamortized debt issuance costs, approximates fair value due to the
short-term nature of the interest rate bench mark rates. The fair value of the fixed rate debt is estimated based on market observable data for debt
with similar prepayment features. The fair value of the Company’s debt was $1,872,292 and $1,692,750 at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
respectively. The debt is considered a Level 2 liability under the fair value hierarchy.
Note 13: Revenue
The tables below show the Company's disaggregated revenues for the periods presented:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2020

Subscription revenues

$

193,235
49,239

Transactional revenues

$

192,492
41,697

242,474

Total revenues, gross
Deferred revenues adjustment

2019

234,189

(1,882)

(1)

$

Total revenues, net

240,592

(164)
$

234,025

(1) Reflects the deferred revenues adjustment as a result of purchase accounting.

Contract Balances

Accounts
receivable, net
Opening (1/1/2020)
Closing (3/31/2020)

$

(Increase)/decrease

$

Opening (1/1/2019)
Closing (3/31/2019)

$

(Increase)/decrease

$

333,858
343,177

Non-current
portion of
deferred
revenues

Current portion
of deferred
revenues
$

407,325
472,101

$

19,723
18,774

$

(64,776)

$

949

331,295
343,113

$

391,102
461,928

$

17,112
17,987

(11,818)

$

(70,826)

$

(9,319)

(875)

The amount of revenue recognized in the period that were included in the opening deferred revenues current and long-term balances were
$105,150. This revenue consists primarily of subscription revenue.
Transaction Price Allocated to the Remaining Performance Obligation
As of March 31, 2020, approximately $62,328 of revenue is expected to be recognized in the future from remaining performance obligations,
excluding contracts with durations of one year or less. The Company expects to recognize revenue on approximately 65% of these performance
obligations over the next 12 months. Of the remaining 35%, 21% is expected to be recognized within the following year, with the final 14% expected
to be recognized within years 3 to 10.
Note 14: Shareholders’ Equity
Pre-2019 Transaction
In March 2017, the Company formed the Management Incentive Plan under which certain employees of the Company may be eligible to purchase
shares of the Company. In exchange for each share purchase subscription, the purchaser is entitled to a fully vested right to an ordinary share.
Additionally, along with a subscription, employees
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receive a corresponding number of options to acquire additional ordinary shares subject to five year vesting. See Note 15 — “Employment and
Compensation Arrangements” for additional detail related to the options. The Company received no net subscriptions for the three months ended
March 31, 2019.
Post-2019 Transaction
In June 2019, the Company formed the 2019 Incentive Award Plan under which employees of the Company may be eligible to purchase shares of
the Company. See Note 15 — “Employment and Compensation Arrangements” for additional detail related to the 2019 Incentive Award Plan. In
exchange for each share subscription purchased, the purchaser is entitled to a fully vested right to an ordinary share. At March 31, 2020 there were
unlimited ordinary shares authorized, and 364,938,052 shares issued and outstanding, with a par value of $0.00. The Company did not hold any
shares as treasury shares as of March 31, 2020 or December 31, 2019. The Company’s ordinary stockholders are entitled to one vote per share.
Warrants
During the period January 1, 2020 through February 21, 2020, 24,132,666 of the Company’s outstanding public warrants were exercised for one
ordinary share per whole public warrant at a price of $11.50 per share. On February 20, 2020, we announced the redemption of all of our
outstanding public warrants to purchase our ordinary shares that were issued as part of the units sold in the Churchill Capital Corp initial public
offering and remain outstanding at 5:00 p.m. New York City time on March 23, 2020, for a redemption price of $0.01 per public warrant. In addition,
our board of directors elected that, upon delivery of the notice of the redemption on February 20, 2020, all public warrants were to be exercised
only on a “cashless basis.” Accordingly, by virtue of the cashless exercise of public warrants, exercising public warrant holders received 0.4626 of
an ordinary share for each public warrant, and 4,747,432 ordinary shares were issued for public warrants exercised on a cashless basis and 4,649
public warrants were redeemed for $0.01 per public warrant. As of March 31, 2020 no public warrants were outstanding.
Merger Shares
On January 31, 2020, our Board agreed to waive all performance vesting conditions associated with the merger shares. All such Merger Shares are
expected to be issued to persons designated by Jerre Stead and Michael Klein prior to December 31, 2020.
DRG Acquisition Shares
In connection with the DRG acquisition up to 2,895,638 ordinary shares of the Company are issuable to PEL following the one-year anniversary of
closing. See Note 4 — “Business Combinations” for additional details.
Note 15: Employment and Compensation Arrangements
Employee Incentive Plans
The 2019 Incentive Award Plan permits the granting of awards in the form of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, share
appreciation rights, restricted shares, restricted share units and other stock-based or cash based awards. Equity awards may be issued in the form
of restricted shares or restricted share units with dividend rights or dividend equivalent rights subject to vesting terms and conditions specified in
individual award agreements. The Company’s Management Incentive Plan provides for employees of the Company to be eligible to purchase
shares of the Company. See Note 14 — “Shareholders’ Equity” for additional information.
A maximum aggregate amount of 60,000,000 ordinary shares are reserved for issuance under the 2019 Incentive Award Plan. Equity awards under
the 2019 Incentive Award Plan may be issued in the form of options to purchase shares of the Company which are exercisable upon the occurrence
of conditions specified within individual award agreements. As of March 31, 2020 37,302,599 awards had been granted.
A summary of the Company’s share-based compensation is as follows:
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Three Months Ended March 31,
2020

Share-based compensation expense
Tax benefit recognized

$

2019
17,469

$

$

3,176

(2) $

78

In the three months ended March 31, 2020, the Company recognized additional Share-based compensation expense related to the modification of
certain awards under the 2019 Incentive Award Plan. As of March 31, 2020, there was $4,909 of total unrecognized compensation cost, related to
outstanding stock options, which is expected to be recognized through 2024 with a remaining weighted-average service period of 2.1 years.
Stock Options
The Company’s stock option activity is summarized below:

Weighted
Average Exercise
Price per Share

Number of
Options

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual Life
(in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Balance at December 31, 2019
Forfeited
Exercised

20,880,225

9.53

0

Outstanding as of March 31, 2020

16,830,475

$

12.73

6.9

$

137,329

Vested and exercisable at March 31, 2020

11,605,933

$

12.79

6.5

$

92,785

$

(334,295)
(3,715,455)

12.18

7.3

13.95

0

$

105,119
—
—

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the difference between the closing price of the Company's common shares on March
31, 2020 and the exercise price of each in-the-money option. There were 3,715,455 stock options exercised in the three months ended March 31,
2020. The tax benefit from the exercised options was $1,372.
The Company accounts for awards issued under the 2019 Incentive Award Plan as additional contributions to equity. Share-based compensation
includes expense associated with stock option grants which is estimated based on the grant date fair value of the award issued. Share-based
compensation expense related to stock options is recognized over the vesting period of the award which is generally five years, on a graded-scale
basis.
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of options granted. The Black-Scholes model takes into
account the fair value of an ordinary share and the contractual and expected term of the stock option, expected volatility, dividend yield, and riskfree interest rate. Prior to becoming a public company, the fair value of the Company’s ordinary shares were determined utilizing an external thirdparty pricing specialist.
The contractual term of the option ranges from the one year to 10 years. Expected volatility is the average volatility over the expected terms of
comparable public entities from the same industry. The risk-free interest rate is based on a treasury rate with a remaining term similar to the
contractual term of the option. The Company is recently formed and at this time does not expect to distribute any dividends. The Company
recognizes forfeitures as they occur.
Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”)
RSUs typically vest from one to three years and are generally subject to either cliff vesting or graded vesting. RSUs do not have nonforfeitable
rights to dividends or dividend equivalents. The fair value of RSUs is typically based on the fair value of our common shares on the date of grant.
We amortize the value of these awards to expense over the vesting period on a graded-scale basis. The Company recognizes forfeitures as they
occur.
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Number of Shares
Outstanding as of December 31, 2019
Vested
Outstanding as of March 31, 2020

Weighted Average Grant
Date Fair Value per Share

293,182
(169,842)

$

16.75
16.86

123,340

$

16.60

The total fair value of RSUs that vested during the three months ended March 31, 2020 was $2,863.
2019 Transaction Related Awards
Upon consummation of the 2019 Transaction, there were 7,000,000 ordinary shares of Clarivate that are issuable if the last sale price of Clarivate’s
ordinary shares is at least $20.00 for 40 days over a 60 consecutive trading day period on or before the sixth anniversary of the closing of the 2019
Transaction. On January 31, 2020, our Board agreed to waive this performance vesting condition, and all such merger shares are expected to be
issued to persons designated by Messrs. Stead and Klein on or prior to December 31, 2020. We used a third-party specialist to fair value the
awards at the modification date using the Monte Carlo simulation approach. The assumptions in the model include, but are not limited to, risk-free
interest rate, 1.33%; expected volatility of the Company's and the peer group's stock prices, 20.00%; and dividend yield, 0.00%. The Company
recognized $13,720 expense in Share-based compensation expense as a result of the waived performance vesting conditions.
In accordance with the terms of the sponsor agreement and in connection with our merger with Churchill in 2019, the merger shares are issued to
persons designated by Messrs Stead and Klein. The Company has evaluated and recorded additional stock compensation expense as required
upon the assignment of merger shares as applicable.
Note 16: Income Taxes
During the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized an income tax provision of $14,753 on loss before income tax of
$59,248 and $240, on loss before income tax of $59,020, respectively. The tax provision in each period three months ended March 31, 2020, and
March 31, 2019, respectively, reflects the mix of taxing jurisdictions in which pre-tax profits and losses were recognized.
Note 17: Earnings per Share
Potential common shares of 38,149,453 of Private Placement Warrants, DRG Transaction Shares, options and RSUs related to the Incentive Award
Plan were excluded from diluted EPS for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and potential common shares of 24,323,190 of options were
excluded from diluted EPS for the three months ended March 31, 2019 as the Company had net losses in both periods and their inclusion would be
anti-dilutive. See Note 14 — "Shareholders' Equity" and Note 15 — "Employment and Compensation Arrangements” for a description.
The 2019 Transaction was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in accordance with U.S. GAAP. See Note 1 — "Background and Nature of
Operations". Accordingly, weighted-average shares outstanding for purposes of the EPS calculation have been retroactively recasted as shares
reflecting the exchange ratio established in the 2019 Transaction (1.0 Jersey share to 132.13667 Clarivate shares).
The basic and diluted EPS computations for our ordinary shares are calculated as follows (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2020

2019

Basic/Diluted EPS
Net loss available to common stockholders
Basic and diluted weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding

$

(74,001)
343,129,833

$

(59,260)
217,526,426

Basic and diluted EPS

$

(0.22)

$

(0.27)
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Note 18: Commitments and Contingencies
The Company does not have any recorded or unrecorded guarantees of the indebtedness of others.
Lawsuits and Legal Claims
The Company is engaged in various legal proceedings, claims, audits and investigations that have arisen in the ordinary course of business.
These matters include, but are not limited to, antitrust/competition claims, intellectual property infringement claims, employment matters and
commercial matters. The outcome of all of the matters against the Company is subject to future resolution, including the uncertainties of litigation.
Based on information currently known to the Company and after consultation with outside legal counsel, management believes that the ultimate
resolution of any such matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition taken as a
whole.
Contingent Liabilities
In conjunction with the acquisition of Publons, the Company agreed to pay former shareholders up to an additional $9,500 through 2020. Amounts
payable are contingent upon Publons' achievement of certain milestones and performance metrics. The Company paid $0 and $2,371 of the
contingent purchase price in the quarter ended March 31, 2020 and year ended December 31, 2019, respectively. The Company had an outstanding
liability for $3,480 and $3,100 related to the estimated fair value of this contingent consideration included in Accrued expenses and other current
liabilities in the Interim Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.
In conjunction with the acquisition of Kopernio, the Company agreed to pay former shareholders up to an additional $3,500 through 2021.
Amounts payable are contingent upon Kopernio’s achievement of certain milestones and performance metrics and will be recognized over the
concurrent service period.
In conjunction with the acquisition of TrademarkVision, the Company agreed to pay former shareholders a potential earn-out dependent upon
achievement of certain milestones and financial performance metrics through 2020. Amounts payable are contingent upon TrademarkVision’s
achievement of certain milestones and performance metrics. During the quarter ended March 31, 2020, the Company paid $8,000 of the contingent
purchase price to complete the earn-out. As of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had an outstanding liability for $0 and $8,000
respectively, related to the estimated fair value of this contingent consideration. The outstanding balance was included in Accrued expenses and
other current liabilities as of December 31, 2019, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
In conjunction with the acquisition of DRG, the Company agreed to pay up to 2,895,638 shares as contingent stock consideration, valued at
$58,897 on the closing date of the acquisition. See Note 4: "Business Combinations" for more information on the contingent stock consideration.
Amounts payable are contingent upon any indemnity losses or claims to indemnity losses occurring within that one year period. The liability
increased by $1,187 since the acquisition date due to an increase in the estimated fair value of this contingent stock consideration, which resulted
in a liability of $60,084 as of March 31, 2020. The outstanding balance was included in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the Interim
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2020.
Note 19: Related Party and Former Parent Transactions
Onex Partners Advisor LP (“Onex”), an affiliate of the Company, is considered a related party. Concurrent with the Acquisition, the Company
entered into a Consulting Services Agreement with Onex, pursuant to which the Company is provided certain ongoing strategic and financing
consulting services in exchange for a quarterly management fee. In connection with this agreement, the Company recognized $0 and $231 for the
three months ended March 31, 2020, and 2019. The Company pays 0.1% interest per annum to Onex for the Credit Agreement. The Company
recognized $0 and $215 for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, in interest expense for the Onex related interest. The
Company had an outstanding liability of $20 and $3 to Onex as of March 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019, respectively. In addition, the Company
paid Onex a management fee of $5,400 in connection with the 2019 Transaction in the second quarter of 2019. See Note 4 — "Business
Combinations" for additional information.
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BPEA, an affiliate of the Company, is considered a related party. Concurrently with the 2016 Transaction, the Company entered into a Management
Services Agreement with Baring, pursuant to which the Company is provided certain ongoing strategic and financing consulting services. In
connection with this agreement, the Company recognized $0 and $167 for the three months ended March 31, 2020, and 2019, respectively, in
operating expenses related to this agreement. The Company had an outstanding liability of $0 and $0 to Baring as of March 31, 2020, and
December 31, 2019, respectively. In addition, the Company paid BPEA a management fee of $2,100 in connection with the 2019 Transaction in the
second quarter of 2019. See Note 4 — "Business Combinations" for additional information.
In connection with the 2016 Transaction, Bidco and a subsidiary of the Former Parent entered into the Transition Service Agreement, which
became effective on October 3, 2016, pursuant to which such subsidiary of the Former Parent will, or will cause its affiliates and/or third-party
service providers to, provide Bidco, its affiliates and/or third-party service providers with certain technology, facilities management, human
resources, sourcing, financial, accounting, data management, marketing and other services to support the operation of the IP&S business as an
independent company. Such services are provided by such subsidiary of the Former Parent or its affiliates and/or third-party service providers for
various time periods and at various costs based upon the terms set forth in the Transition Service Agreement.
A controlled affiliate of Baring is a vendor of ours. Total payments to this vendor were $18 and $240 for the three months ended March 31, 2020
and 2019 respectively. The Company had an outstanding liability of $173 and $160 as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.
Jerre Stead, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, is the Co-founder of a vendor of ours. Total payments to this vendor were $0 for the three
months ended March 31, 2020. The Company had an outstanding liability of $0 and $10 as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.
This vendor was not a related party during the three months ended March 31, 2020 or 2019.
A former member of our key management is the Co-founder of a vendor of ours. Total payments to this vendor were $0 and $78 for the three
months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, and the Company had no outstanding liability as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. This vendor
was not a related party during the three months ended March 31, 2019.
Note 20: Restructuring
In accordance with the applicable guidance for ASC 420, Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations, we accounted for termination benefits and recognized
liabilities when the loss was considered probable, employees were entitled to benefits and the amounts could be reasonably estimated. We have
incurred costs in connection with involuntary termination benefits associated with our corporate-related initiatives and cost-saving opportunities.
These amounts are recorded within Restructuring in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The payments associated with these actions are
expected to be completed within 12 months from the balance sheet date.
The following table summarizes the activity related to the restructuring reserves and expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2020.
Balance as of December 31, 2019
Expenses recorded
Payments made

$

9,506
7,754
(6,647)

Balance as of March 31, 2020

$

10,613

Restructuring charges incurred in the three months ended March 31, 2020 included actions to reduce operational costs. Components of the pre-tax
charges include $6,574 in severance costs, $508 in exit costs, and $666 in legal and advisory costs incurred during the three months ended March
31, 2020.
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Note 21: Subsequent Events
Management has evaluated the impact of events that have occurred subsequent to March 31, 2020. Based on this evaluation, other than disclosed
within these Interim Condensed Consolidated Combined Financial Statements and related notes or described below, the Company has determined
no other events were required to be recognized or disclosed.
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements, including the notes thereto,
included elsewhere in this report. Certain statements in this section are forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties, such
as statements regarding our plans, objectives, expectations and intentions. Our future results and financial condition may differ materially from
those we currently anticipate as a result of the factors we describe under "Item 1A. Risk Factors." Certain income statement amounts discussed
herein are presented on an actual and on a constant currency basis. We calculate constant currency by converting the non-U.S. dollar income
statement balances for the most current year to U.S. dollars by applying the average exchange rates of the preceding year. Certain amounts
that appear in this section may not sum due to rounding.
Overview
We offer a collection of high quality, market leading information and analytic products and solutions through our Science and Intellectual Property
(“IP”) Product Groups. Our Science Product Group consists of our Web of Science and Life Science Product Lines, and our IP Product Group
consists of our Derwent, CompuMark and MarkMonitor Product Lines. Our highly curated Web of Science products are offered primarily to
universities, helping them navigate scientific literature, facilitate research and evaluate and measure the quality of researchers, institutions and
scientific journals across various academic disciplines. Our Life Sciences Product Line offerings serve the content and analytical needs of
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies across the drug development lifecycle, including content on discovery and pre-clinical research,
competitive intelligence, regulatory information and clinical trials. Our Derwent Product Line offerings help patent and legal professionals in R&D
intensive businesses evaluate the novelty and patentability of new ideas and products to help protect and research patents. Our CompuMark
products and services allow businesses and legal professionals to access our comprehensive trademark database. Finally, our MarkMonitor
offerings include enterprise web domain portfolio management products and services.

Factors Affecting the Comparability of Our Results of Operations
There have been no material changes to the factors affecting the comparability of our results of operations associated with our business
previously disclosed in "Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Factors Affecting
the Comparability of Our Results of Operations” section in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, except as set forth below. The disclosures set forth
below updates, and should be read together with, the disclosures in the "Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations — Factors Affecting the Comparability of Our Results of Operations” section, in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Acquisition of Decision Resources Group
On February 28, 2020, we acquired 100% of the assets, liabilities and equity interests of Decision Resources Group ("DRG"), a premier provider of
high-value data, analytics and insights products and services to the healthcare industry, from Piramal Enterprises Limited ("PEL"), which is a part
of global business conglomerate Piramal Group. The acquisition helps us expand our core businesses and provides us with the potential to grow in
the Life Sciences Product Line.
The aggregate consideration paid in connection with the closing of the DRG acquisition was $964,997, comprised of $900,000 of base cash plus
$6,100 of adjusted closing cash paid on the closing date and up to 2,895,638 of the Company's ordinary shares to be issued to PEL following the
one-year anniversary of closing. The contingent stock consideration was valued at $58,897 on the closing date and will be revalued at each period
end and included in the Accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the Interim Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.
In February 2020, we completed an underwritten public offering of 27,600,000 of our ordinary shares, generating net proceeds of $540,736, which
we used to fund a portion of the cash consideration for the DRG acquisition. In addition, we incurred an incremental $360,000 of term loans under
our term loan facility and used the net proceeds from such borrowings, together with cash on hand, to fund the remainder of the cash
consideration for the DRG acquisition and to pay related fees and expenses. As the result of the additional term loan, we had $1,256,850
outstanding on our term loan facility at March 31, 2020.
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MarkMonitor Brand Protection, Antipiracy and Antifraud Disposition
In November 2019, we entered into an agreement with an unrelated third-party for the sale of certain assets and liabilities of our MarkMonitor
Product Line within the IP Group. The divestment closed in January 2020 for a consideration of approximately $3,751. An impairment charge of
$18,431 was recognized in the Statement of Operations during the fourth quarter to reduce the Assets Held for Sale to their fair value. Accordingly,
we recorded an immaterial loss on the divestiture during the period three months ended March 31, 2020.

Key Components of Our Results of Operations
Revenues, net
We categorize our revenues into two categories: subscription and transactional.
Subscription-based revenues are recurring revenues that are earned under annual, multi-year, or evergreen contracts, pursuant to which we license
the right to use our products to our customers. Revenues from the sale of subscription data and analytics solutions are typically invoiced annually
in advance and recognized ratably over the year as revenues are earned. Subscription revenues are driven by annual revenue renewal rates, new
subscription business, price increases on existing subscription business and subscription upgrades and downgrades from recurring customers.
Substantially all of our historical deferred revenues purchase accounting adjustments are related to subscription revenues.
Transactional revenues are earned under contracts for specific deliverables that are typically quoted on a product, data set or project basis and
often derived from repeat customers, including customers that also generate subscription-based revenues. Transactional products and services
are invoiced according to the terms of the contract, typically in arrears. Transactional content revenues are usually delivered to the customer
instantly or in a short period of time, at which time revenues are recognized. Transactional revenues also include, to a lesser extent, professional
services, which are typically performed under contracts that vary in length from several months to years for multi-year projects and are typically
invoiced based on the achievement of milestones. The most significant components of our transactional revenues include our “clearance
searching” and “backfiles” products.
Cost of Revenues, Excluding Depreciation and Amortization
Cost of revenues consists of costs related to the production, servicing and maintenance of our products and are comprised primarily of related
personnel costs, such as salaries, benefits and bonuses for employees, fees for contracted labor, and data center services and licensing costs.
Cost of revenues also includes the costs to acquire or produce content, royalties payable and non-capitalized R&D expenses. Cost of revenues
does not include production costs related to internally generated software, which are capitalized.
Selling, General and Administrative, Excluding Depreciation and Amortization
Selling, general and administrative costs consist primarily of salaries, benefits, commission and bonuses for the executive, finance and accounting,
human resources, administrative, sales and marketing personnel, third-party professional services fees, such as legal and accounting expenses,
facilities rent and utilities and technology costs associated with our corporate infrastructure.
Depreciation
Depreciation expense relates to our fixed assets, including mainly computer hardware and leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures. These
assets are depreciated over their expected useful lives, and in the case of leasehold improvements over the shorter of their useful life or the
duration of the related lease.
Amortization
Amortization expense relates to our finite-lived intangible assets, including mainly databases and content, customer relationships, internally
generated computer software and trade names. These assets are amortized over periods of between two and 20 years. Definite-lived intangible
assets are tested for impairment when indicators are present, and, if impaired, are written down to fair value based on discounted cash flows. No
impairment of intangible assets has been identified during any financial period included in our accompanying unaudited Interim Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements.
Share-based Compensation
31

CLARIVATE ANALYTICS PLC
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data, option price amounts, ratios or as noted)

Share-based compensation expense includes costs associated with stock options granted to and certain modifications for certain members of
management and expense related to the issuance of shares in connection with our merger with Churchill Capital Corp in 2019.
Transaction Expenses
Transaction expenses are incurred to complete business combination transactions, including acquisitions and dispositions, and typically include
advisory, legal and other professional and consulting costs.
Transition, Integration and Other Related Expenses
Transition, integration and other related expenses, including transformation expenses, mainly reflect the costs of transitioning certain activities
performed under the transition services agreement by Thomson Reuters and certain consulting costs related to standing up our back-office
systems to enable our operation on a stand-alone basis. These costs include labor costs of full time employees currently working on migration
projects, including primarily employees whose labor costs are capitalized in other circumstances (such as employees working on application
development). In 2019, these costs also relate to the Company's transition expenses incurred following the merger with Churchill Capital Corp.
Restructuring
Restructuring expense includes costs associated with involuntary termination benefits provided to employees under the terms of a one-time
benefit arrangement, certain contract termination costs, and other costs associated with an exit or disposal activity.
Other Operating Income (Expense), Net
Other operating income (expense), net consists of gains or losses related to legal settlements and the disposal of our assets, asset impairments
or write-downs and the consolidated impact of re-measurement of the assets and liabilities of our company and our subsidiaries that are
denominated in currencies other than each relevant entity's functional currency.
Interest Expense, net
Interest expense, net consists of expense related to interest on our borrowings under our term loan facility and our secured notes due 2026, the
amortization and write off of debt issuance costs and original discount, and interest related to certain derivative instruments.
Benefit (Provision) for Income Taxes
A benefit or provision for income tax is calculated for each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. The benefit or provision for income taxes is
determined using the asset and liability approach of accounting for income taxes. Under this approach, deferred taxes represent the future tax
consequences expected to occur when the reported amounts of assets and liabilities are recovered or paid. The benefit or provision for income
taxes represents income taxes paid or payable for the current year plus the change in deferred taxes during the year. Deferred taxes result from
differences between the book and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are adjusted for changes in tax rates and tax laws when changes are
enacted. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a tax benefit will not be realized.
Interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits and income tax related penalties are included in the provision for income taxes.

Key Performance Indicators
We regularly monitor the following key performance indicators to evaluate our business and trends, measure our performance, prepare financial
projections and make strategic decisions.
Adjusted Revenues
We present Adjusted Revenues, which excludes the impact of the deferred revenue purchase accounting adjustment (recorded in connection with
the separation from Thomson Reuters) and revenues from divestitures. We present these measures because we believe it is useful to readers to
better understand the underlying trends in our operations. See “— Certain Non-GAAP Measures — Adjusted Revenues” below for important
information on the limitations of Adjusted Revenues and their reconciliation to the respective revenues measures under U.S. GAAP.
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin
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Adjusted EBITDA is presented because it is a basis upon which our management assesses our performance and we believe it is useful for
investors to understand the underlying trends of our operations. See “— Certain Non-GAAP Measures — Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
EBITDA margin” for important information on the limitations of Adjusted EBITDA and its reconciliation to our Net loss under GAAP. Adjusted
EBITDA represents net loss before provision for income taxes, depreciation and amortization, interest income and expense adjusted to exclude
acquisition or disposal-related transaction costs (such costs include net income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes,
depreciation and amortization and interest income and expense from divestitures), losses on extinguishment of debt, stock-based compensation,
unrealized foreign currency gains/(losses), costs associated with the transition services agreement with Thomson Reuters, which we entered into
in connection with our separation from Thomson Reuters in 2016, separation and integration costs, transformational and restructuring expenses,
acquisition-related adjustments to deferred revenues, costs related to our merger with Churchill Capital Corp in 2019, non-cash income/(loss) on
equity and cost method investments, non-operating income or expense, the impact of certain non-cash, legal settlements and other items that are
included in net income for the period that the Company does not consider indicative of its ongoing operating performance and certain unusual
items impacting results in a particular period. Adjusted EBITDA margin is calculated by dividing Adjusted EBITDA by Adjusted Revenues.
Annualized Contract Value
Annualized Contract Value (“ACV”), at a given point in time, represents the annualized value for the next 12 months of subscription-based client
license agreements, assuming that all expiring license agreements during that period are renewed at their current price level. License agreements
may cover more than one product and the standard subscription period for each license agreement typically runs for no less than 12 months. The
renewal period for our subscriptions starts 90 days before the end of the current subscription period, during which customers must provide notice
of whether they intend to renew or cancel the license agreement.
An initial subscription period for new customers may be for a term of less than 12 months, in certain circumstances. Most of our customers,
however, opt to enter into a full 12-month initial subscription period, resulting in renewal periods spread throughout the calendar year. Customers
that license more than one subscription-based product may, at any point during the renewal period, provide notice of their intent to renew only
certain subscriptions within the license agreement and cancel other subscriptions, which we typically refer to as a downgrade. In other instances,
customers may upgrade their license agreements by adding additional subscription-based products to the original agreement. Our calculation of
ACV includes the impact of downgrades, upgrades, price increases, and cancellations that have occurred as of the reporting period. For avoidance
of doubt, ACV does not include fees associated with transactional revenues.
We monitor ACV because it represents a leading indicator of the potential subscription revenues that may be generated from our existing customer
base over the upcoming 12-month period. Measurement of subscription revenues as a key operating metric is particularly relevant because a
majority of our revenues are generated through subscription-based products, which accounted for 79.7% and 82.2% in each of the three months
ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. We calculate and monitor ACV for each of our Groups and use the metric as part of our evaluation of
our business and trends.
The amount of actual subscription revenues that we earn over any 12-month period are likely to differ from ACV at the beginning of that period,
sometimes significantly. This may occur for numerous reasons, including subsequent changes in annual revenue renewal rates, impact of price
increases (or decreases), cancellations, upgrades and downgrades, and acquisitions and divestitures.
We calculate the ACV on a constant currency basis to exclude the effect of foreign currency fluctuations.
The following table presents ACV as of the dates indicated:
March 31,
(in thousands, except percentages)
Annualized contract value

2020
$

820,254

Variance
2019

$

765,100

$
$

%
55,154

7.2%

Annual Revenue Renewal Rates
Our revenues are primarily subscription based, which leads to high revenue predictability. Our ability to retain existing subscription customers is a
key performance indicator that helps explain the evolution of our historical results and is a leading indicator of our revenues and cash flows for the
subsequent reporting period.
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“Annual revenue renewal rate” is the metric we use to determine renewal levels by existing customers across all of our Groups, and is a leading
indicator of renewal trends, which impact the evolution of our ACV and results of operations. We calculate the annual revenue renewal rate for a
given period by dividing (a) the annualized dollar value of existing subscription product license agreements that are renewed during that period,
including the value of any product downgrades, by (b) the annualized dollar value of existing subscription product license agreements that come
up for renewal in that period. “Open renewals,” which we define as existing subscription product license agreements that come up for renewal, but
are neither renewed nor canceled by customers during the applicable reposting period, are excluded from both the numerator and denominator of
the calculation. We calculate the annual revenue renewal rate to reflect the value of product downgrades but not the value of product upgrades
upon renewal, because upgrades reflect the purchase of additional services.
The impact of upgrades, new subscriptions and product price increases is reflected in ACV, but not in annual revenue renewal rates. Our annual
revenue renewal rates were 93.0% and 93.0% for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Results of Operations
The following table presents the results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019:

Three Months Ended March 31,
2020

Variance Increase / (Decrease)

2019

$

%

(in thousands, except percentages)
Revenues, net

6,567

2.8 %

Cost of revenues, excluding depreciation and amortization

$

240,592
(82,399)

$

234,025
(89,267)

$

(6,868)

(7.7)%

Selling, general and administrative costs, excluding
depreciation and amortization

(86,948)

(92,296)

(5,348)

(5.8)%

Share-based compensation expense

(17,469)

(3,176)

14,293

Depreciation

(2,329)

(2,051)

278

Amortization

(49,112)

(56,106)

(6,994)

(12.5)%

Transaction expenses

(26,689)

(10,270)

16,419

N/M

Transition, integration and other related expenses

(2,232)

(1,161)

1,071

92.2 %

Restructuring

(7,754)

7,754

N/M

(5,617)

11,649

N/M

(268,900)

(259,944)

8,956

(28,308)

(25,919)

2,389

9.2 %

(30,940)

(33,101)

(2,161)

(6.5)%

(59,248)

(59,020)

228

(14,753)

(240)

14,513

N/M

14,741

24.9 %

Other operating income (expense), net

6,032

Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest expense, net
Loss before income tax
Provision for income taxes
Net loss

—

$

(74,001)

$

(59,260)

$

N/M
13.6 %

3.4 %

0.4 %

Three Months Ended March 31, 2020 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2019
Revenues, Net
Revenues, net of $240,592 for the three months ended March 31, 2020, increased by $6,567, or 2.8%, from $234,025 for the three months ended
March 31, 2019. On a constant currency basis, Revenues, net increased $8,305, or 3.5% for the three months ended March 31, 2020.
Adjusted Revenues, which excludes the impact of the deferred revenues adjustment, increased $8,285, or 3.5%, to $242,474 in the three months
ended March 31, 2020 from $234,189 in the three months ended March 31, 2019. On a constant currency basis, Adjusted Revenues increased
$10,023, or 4.2% for the three months ended March 31, 2020. For an explanation of our calculation of Adjusted Revenues and the limitations as to
its usefulness, see “— Certain Non-GAAP Measures — Adjusted Revenues.”
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The following tables present the amounts of our subscription and transactional revenues for the periods indicated, as well the drivers of the
variances between periods, including as a percentage of such revenues.
Variance Increase/
(Decrease)
Total
Variance
(Dollars)

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2020

2019

$ 193,235

$ 192,492

49,239

41,697

(in thousands, except percentages)

Subscription revenues
Transactional revenues
Deferred revenues adjustment

Revenues, net

Adjusted Revenues, net

Total
Variance (%)

Acquisitive

Disposal

FX Impact

Organic

743

0.4 %

5.1 %

(7.3 )%

(0.7 )%

3.3 %

7,542

18.1 %

23.0 %

(1.6 )%

(0.8 )%

(2.5 )%

1,718

NM

NM

0.0 %

0.0 %

68.3 %

6,567

2.8 %

7.5 %

(6.3 )%

(0.7 )%

2.3 %

1,718

NM

NM

0.0 %

0.0 %

68.3 %

8,285

3.5 %

8.3 %

(6.3 )%

(0.7 )%

2.2 %

(1)

(1,882 )

Deferred revenues adjustment

$

Percentage of Factors Increase/(Decrease)

(164 )

$ 240,592

$ 234,025

1,882

164

$ 242,474

$ 234,189

$

(1)

$

(1) Reflects the deferred revenues adjustment as a result of purchase accounting.

Subscription revenues increased by $743, or 0.4% for the three months ended March 31, 2020. On a constant currency basis, subscription
revenues increased by $2,124, or 1.1%. Acquisitive subscription growth is generated from the acquisitions of Darts-ip in November 2019 and DRG
in February 2020. Disposal subscription reduction is derived from the divestiture of the MarkMonitor Brand Protection, Antipiracy, and Antifraud
products in January 2020. Organic subscription revenues increased primarily due to price increases and new business, consistent with the growth
in the annualized contract value.
Transactional revenues increased by $7,542, or 18.1% for the three months ended March 31, 2020. On a constant currency basis, transactional
revenues increased by $7,899, or 18.9%. Acquisitive transactional growth is generated from the acquisitions of Darts-ip in November 2019 and
DRG in February 2020. Disposal transactional reduction is derived from the divestiture of the MarkMonitor Brand Protection, Antipiracy, and
Antifraud products in January 2020. Organic transactional revenues decreased due to timing of product offerings and volume. This decrease was
offset partially by increased revenues related to the upgrades of the Techstreet product offerings.

The table below presents our revenue split by geographic region for the periods indicated, as well the drivers of the variances between periods,
including as a percentage of such revenues.
Variance Increase/
(Decrease)
Three Months Ended
March 31,

Revenues by Geography

2020

Percentage of Factors Increase/(Decrease)

Total
Variance
(Dollars)

Total
Variance (%)

4,856

4.3 %

12.0%

(8.7)%

(0.1)%

1.1%

(0.3)%

6.9%

(5.8)%

(1.7)%

0.3%

6.6 %

2.5%

(2.0)%

(0.8)%

6.9%

Acquisitive

Disposal

FX Impact

Organic

2019

(in thousands, except percentages)

Americas

$

116,992

$ 112,136
$

Europe/Middle East/Africa

Asia Pacific

66,795

66,998

58,687

55,055

(203)

3,632

Deferred revenues adjustment

(1)

(1,882)
$

Revenues, net

240,592

(164)

$ 234,025

$

1,718

NM

6,567

2.8 %

NM

7.5%
Deferred revenues adjustment

Adjusted Revenues, net

(1)

$

1,882

164

242,474

$ 234,189

$

1,718

NM

8,285

3.5 %

NM

8.3%

—%

—%

68.3%

(6.3)%

(0.7)%

2.3%

—%

—%

68.3%

(6.3)%

(0.7)%

2.2%

(1) Reflects the deferred revenues adjustment as a result of purchase accounting.

Acquisitive growth for all regions was related to the acquisitions of Darts-ip in November 2019 and DRG in February 2020. Disposal reduction is
derived from the divestiture of the MarkMonitor Brand Protection, Antipiracy, and Antifraud
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products in January 2020. On a constant currency basis, Americas revenues increased by $4,985, or 4.4%, with organic growth slightly increasing
due to increased subscription revenues offset by decreased transactional revenues. On a constant currency basis, Europe/Middle East/Africa
revenues increased by $950, or 1.4%, with organic growth slightly decreasing due to a reduction in subscription revenue and transaction revenue
remaining flat. On a constant currency basis, Asia Pacific revenues increased $4,088, or 7.4%, with organic growth increasing due to increases in
subscription and transactional revenues.
The following tables, and the discussion that follows, present our revenues by Product Group for the periods indicated, as well the drivers of the
variances between periods, including as a percentage of such revenues.
Variance Increase/
(Decrease)

Revenues by Product Group

2020

(in thousands, except percentages)

Science Product Group

$

IP Product Group
Deferred revenues adjustment

Total
Variance
(Dollars)

Three Months Ended
March 31,

147,260

$

129,211

$

104,978

(1,882 )

(164 )
$

$

Revenues, net

Deferred revenues adjustment

240,592

Acquisitive

Disposal

FX Impact

Organic

2019

95,214
(1)

Total
Variance (%)

Percentage of Factors Increase/(Decrease)

$

18,049

14.0 %

13.2 %

—%

(1.0 )%

1.8 %

(9,764 )

(9.3 )%

2.3 %

(14.0 )%

(0.5 )%

2.9 %

1,718

NM

NM

—%

—%

68.3 %

6,567

2.8 %
(6.3 )%

(0.7 )%

2.3 %

—%

—%

68.3 %

(6.3 )%

(0.7 )%

2.2 %

234,025

7.5 %

(1)

1,882
Adjusted Revenues, net

164
$

$

242,474

$

1,718

NM

8,285

3.5 %

234,189

NM

8.3 %

(1) Reflects the deferred revenues adjustment as a result of purchase accounting.

Science Product Group: Revenues of $147,260 for the three months ended March 31, 2020 increased $18,049, or 14.0% from $129,211 for the three
months ended March 31, 2019 . On a constant currency basis, revenues increased by $19,292, or 15.0%. Acquisitive transactional growth is
generated from the acquisition of DRG in February 2020. Organic revenues increased due to price increases and new business in subscription
revenues, partially offset by a minimal decrease in transactional revenues due to timing of product offerings.
IP Product Group: Revenues of $95,214 for the three months ended March 31, 2020 decreased $9,764, or 9.3% from $104,978 for the three months
ended March 31, 2019. On a constant currency basis, revenue decreased $9,269, or 8.8%, driven by subscription and transactional revenue.
Acquisitive transactional growth is generated from the acquisition of Darts-ip in November 2019. Disposal reduction is derived from the disposal
of the MarkMonitor Brand Protection, Antipiracy, and Antifraud productions in January 2020. Organic revenues increased due to subscription and
transactional growth primarily due to the upgrades of the Techstreet product offerings.
Cost of Revenues, Excluding Depreciation and Amortization
Cost of revenues of $82,399 for the three months ended March 31, 2020 decreased by $6,868, or 7.7%, from $89,267 for the three months ended
March 31, 2019. On a constant currency basis, cost of revenues decreased by $4,160 or 4.7%, for the three months ended March 31, 2020,
respectively. On a constant currency basis, costs of revenues decreased due to a decrease in Transition Services Agreement data center costs.
Selling, General and Administrative, Excluding Depreciation and Amortization
Selling, general and administrative expense of $86,948 for the three months ended March 31, 2020, decreased by $5,348, or 5.8%, from $92,296 for
the three months ended March 31, 2019. On a constant currency basis, Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $2,590, or 2.8%,
for the three months ended March 31, 2020, reflecting an increase in employee related costs substantially offset by a decrease in Transition
Services Agreement costs, and certain business operating costs.
Share-based Compensation
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Share-based compensation expense of $17,469 for the three months ended March 31, 2020 increased by $14,293 from $3,176 for the three months
ended March 31, 2019. The increase in the three months ended March 31, 2020 was largely due to additional expense related to the waived
performance vesting condition associated with the Merger Shares.
Depreciation
Depreciation of $2,329 for the three months ended March 31, 2020 increased by $278, or 13.6% from $2,051 for the three months ended March 31,
2019 . The increase in the three months ended March 31, 2020 was driven by the additional depreciation on assets acquired through the
acquisitions of Darts-ip in November 2019 and DRG in February 2020. This increase was offset by run-off of previously purchased capital
expenditures.
Amortization
Amortization of $49,112 for the three months ended March 31, 2020 decreased by $6,994, or 12.5%, from $56,106 for the three months ended March
31, 2019, The decreases in the three months ended March 31, 2020 was predominately related to intangible assets acquired in connection with our
separation from Thomson Reuters in 2016 that are now fully amortized and reduction of amortization on the Mark Monitor intangible assets
disposed in January 2020. These decreases were offset partially by an increase in the amortization on intangible assets acquired through the
acquisitions of Darts-ip in November 2019 and DRG in February 2020.
Transaction Expenses
Transaction expenses of $26,689 for the three months ended March 31, 2020, increased by $16,419, from $10,270 for the three months ended March
31, 2019. The increase in the three months ended March 31, 2020 was due to costs incurred in association with the closing of a offering of
27,600,000 ordinary shares and costs associated with the acquisition of DRG during the three months ended March 31, 2020 compared to lower
costs incurred in association with our merger with Churchill Capital Corp during the three months ended March 31, 2019.
Transition, Integration, and Other Related Expenses
Transition, integration, and other expenses of $2,232 for the three months ended March 31, 2020, increased by $1,071, from $1,161 for the three
months ended March 31, 2019. The increase in the period three months ended March 31, 2020 is due to additional costs associated with the
remediation of the material weakness, which has been completed.
Restructuring
Restructuring of $7,754 for the three months ended March 31, 2020, increased by $7,754, from $0 for the three months ended March 31, 2019. The
increase is related to an initiative, following our merger with Churchill Capital Corp in 2019, to streamline our operations by simplifying our
organization and focusing on two product groups.
Other Operating Income (Expense), Net
Other operating income (expense), net of $6,032 income for the three months ended March 31, 2020, changed by $11,649, from an expense of $5,617
for the three months ended March 31, 2019. The change was attributable to the consolidated impact of the remeasurement of the assets and
liabilities of our Company that are denominated in currencies other than each relevant entity’s functional currency.
Interest Expense
Interest expense, net of $30,940 for the three months ended March 31, 2020, decreased by $2,161, or 6.5% from $33,101 for the three months ended
March 31, 2019. The decreases in the period three months ended March 31, 2020 was due to lower interest payments resulting from lower interest
rates on the Company's borrowings as the result of the refinancing transaction in October 2019.
Benefit (provision) for Income Taxes
There was a provision of $14,753 for the three months ended March 31, 2020, compared to a provision of $240 for income taxes for the three months
ended March 31, 2019. The increase was due to additional provision related to the DRG acquisition and reflected the mix of taxing jurisdictions in
which pre-tax profits and losses were recognized.

Certain Non-GAAP Measures
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We include non-GAAP measures in this Report, including Adjusted Revenues, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA margin and Free Cash Flow
because they are a basis upon which our management assesses our performance and we believe they reflect the underlying trends and indicators
of our business by allowing management to focus on the most meaningful indicators of our continuous operational performance.
Although we believe these measures are useful for investors for the same reasons, we recommend users of the financial statements to note these
measures are not a substitute for GAAP financial measures or disclosures. We provide reconciliations of these non-GAAP measures to the
corresponding most closely related GAAP measure.
Adjusted Revenues
We present Adjusted Revenues, which excludes the impact of the deferred revenues purchase accounting adjustment (recorded in connection
with the separation from Thomson Reuters and acquisitions). We present this measure because we believe it is useful to readers to better
understand the underlying trends in our operations.
Our presentation of Adjusted Revenues is for informational purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of our future results. You should
compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our GAAP results and only using non-GAAP measures for supplementary analysis.
The following table presents our calculation of Adjusted Revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 and a reconciliation of
this measure to our Revenues, net for the same periods:
Three Months Ended March 31,
(in thousands, except percentages)

2020

Variance

2019

$

%

Revenues, net
Deferred revenues adjustment

$

240,592
1,882

$

234,025
164

$

6,567
1,718

2.8%
NM

Adjusted revenues

$

242,474

$

234,189

$

8,285

3.5%

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin
Adjusted EBITDA is presented because it is a basis upon which our management assesses our performance, and we believe it is useful for
investors to understand the underlying trends of our operations. See "— Certain Non-GAAP Measures — Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
EBITDA margin" for important information on the limitations of Adjusted EBITDA and its reconciliation to our Net loss under GAAP. Adjusted
EBITDA represents net loss before provision for income taxes, depreciation and amortization, interest income and expense adjusted to exclude
acquisition or disposal-related transaction costs (such costs include net income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes,
depreciation and amortization and interest income and expense from divestitures), losses on extinguishment of debt, stock-based compensation,
unrealized foreign currency gains/(losses), costs associated with the transition services agreement with Thomson Reuters, which we entered into
in connection with our separation from Thomson Reuters in 2016, separation and integration costs, transformational and restructuring expenses,
acquisition-related adjustments to deferred revenues, costs related to our merger with Churchill Capital Corp in 2019, non-cash income/(loss) on
equity and cost method investments, non-operating income or expense, the impact of certain non-cash, legal settlements and other items that are
included in net income for the period that the Company does not consider indicative of its ongoing operating performance and certain unusual
items impacting results in a particular period. Adjusted EBITDA margin is calculated by dividing Adjusted EBITDA by Adjusted Revenues.
Our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be
unaffected by any of the adjusted items, or that our projections and estimates will be realized in their entirety or at all. In addition, because of these
limitations, Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as a measure of liquidity or discretionary cash available to us to fund our cash needs,
including investing in the growth of our business and meeting our obligations. You should compensate for these limitations by relying primarily
on our U.S. GAAP results and only use Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin for supplementary analysis.
The following table presents our calculation of Adjusted EBITDA for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 and reconciles these
measures to our Net loss for the same periods:
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Three Months Ended March 31,
(in thousands, except percentages)

2020

2019

Net loss
Provision for income taxes
Depreciation and amortization
Interest, net
Transition services agreement costs(1)
Transition, transformation and integration expense(2)
Deferred revenues adjustment(3)
Transaction related costs(4)
Share-based compensation expense
Restructuring(5)
Other(6)

$

(74,001)
14,753
51,441
30,940
1,551
2,228
1,882
26,689
17,469
7,754
(2,484)

$

(59,260)
240
58,157
33,101
5,273
2,460
164
10,270
3,176
—
5,644

Adjusted EBITDA

$

78,222

$

59,225

Adjusted EBITDA margin

32.2%

25.3%

(1) In 2020, this is related to a new transition services agreement and offset by the reverse transition services agreement from the sale of MarkMonitor assets. In
2019, this includes payments to Thomson Reuters under the Transition Services Agreement.
(2) Includes costs incurred in connection with and after our separation from Thomson Reuters in 2016 relating to the implementation of our standalone company
infrastructure and related cost-savings initiatives. These costs include mainly transition consulting, technology infrastructure, personnel and severance expenses
relating to our standalone company infrastructure, which are recorded in Transition, integration, and other line-item of our income statement, as well as expenses
related to the restructuring and transformation of our business following our separation from Thomson Reuters in 2016, mainly related to the integration of
separate business units into one functional organization and enhancements in our technology.
(3) Reflects the deferred revenues adjustment as a result of purchase accounting.
(4) Includes costs incurred to complete business combination transactions, including acquisitions and dispositions, and typically include advisory, legal and other
professional and consulting costs.
(5) Reflects costs incurred in connection with the initiative, following our merger with Churchill Capital Corp in 2019, to streamline our operations by simplifying
our organization and focusing on two product groups.
(6) Includes primarily the net impact of foreign exchange gains and losses related to the re-measurement of balances and other items that do not reflect our ongoing
operating performance.

Free Cash Flow
We use free cash flow in our operational and financial decision-making and believe free cash flow is useful to investors because similar measures
are frequently used by securities analysts, investors, ratings agencies and other interested parties to evaluate our competitors and to measure the
ability of companies to service their debt.
Our presentation of free cash flow should not be construed as a measure of liquidity or discretionary cash available to us to fund our cash needs,
including investing in the growth of our business and meeting our obligations. You should compensate for these limitations by relying primarily
on our U.S. GAAP results.
We define free cash flow as net cash provided by operating activities less capital expenditures. For further discussion on free cash flow, including
a reconciliation to cash flows provided by operating activities, refer to “— Liquidity and Capital Resources — Cash Flows" below.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity describes the ability of a company to generate sufficient cash flows to meet the cash requirements of its business operations, including
working capital needs, capital expenditures, debt service, acquisitions, other commitments and contractual obligations. Our principal sources of
liquidity include cash from operating activities, cash and cash equivalents on our Interim Condensed Balance Sheet and amounts available under
our revolving
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credit facility. We consider liquidity in terms of the sufficiency of these resources to fund our operating, investing and financing activities for a
period of 12 months after the financial statement issuance date.
Our cash flows from operations are generated primarily from payments from our subscription customers. As described above, the standard term of
a subscription is typically 12 months. When a customer enters into a new subscription agreement, or submits a notice to renew their subscription,
we typically invoice for the full amount of the subscription period, record the balance to deferred revenues, and ratably recognize the deferral
throughout the subscription period. As a result, we experience cash flow seasonality throughout the year, with a heavier weighting of operating
cash inflows occurring during the first half, and particularly first quarter, of the year, when most subscription invoices are sent, as compared to the
second half of the year.
We require and will continue to need significant cash resources to, among other things, meet our debt service requirements under our credit
facilities, our secured notes due 2026 and any future indebtedness, fund our working capital requirements, make capital expenditures (including
related to product development), and expand our business through acquisitions. We continue to assess the changing environment in relation to
COVID-19 and conducted a scenario planning exercise to assess the potential impact on our liquidity and our future financial position. The
scenario planning has taken into account our existing cash position, the creditworthiness of our banking partners, potential revenue outcomes (in
both a worst and reasonable downside scenario), and to be prudent evaluated potential reductions in the cost base. Based on our forecasts, we
believe that cash flow from operations, available cash on hand and available borrowing capacity under our revolving credit facility will be adequate
to service debt, meet liquidity needs and fund necessary capital expenditures for at least the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements will
depend on many factors, including the number of future acquisitions, data center infrastructure investments, and the timing and extent of spending
to support product development efforts. We could be required, or could elect, to seek additional funding through public or private equity or debt
financings; however, additional funds may not be available on terms acceptable to us.
Cash and cash equivalents were $308,021 and $76,130 as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. We had approximately $1,956,850
of debt as of March 31, 2020, consisting primarily of $1,256,850 in borrowings under our term loan facility, and $700,000 in outstanding principal of
secured notes due 2026 with no borrowings under our revolving credit facility as of the date. As of December 31, 2019, we had approximately
$1,665,000 of debt, consisting primarily of $900,000 in borrowings under our term loan facility, $700,000 in outstanding principal of secured notes
due 2026 and $65,000 of borrowings under our revolving credit facility (which borrowings under our revolving credit facility we subsequently paid
down in full in February 2020). On February 28, 2020, we incurred an incremental $360,000 of term loans under our term loan facility and used the
net proceeds from such borrowings, together with cash on hand, to fund a portion of the cash consideration for the DRG acquisition and to pay
related fees and expenses. See “—Debt Profile” below.
Cash Flows
The following table discloses our consolidated cash flows provided by (used in) operating, investing and financing activities for the periods
presented:
Three Months Ended March 31,
(in thousands)

2020

Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rates

$

Increase in cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash beginning of the year

2019

46,106
(900,967)
1,091,606
(2,013)

$

234,732
76,139
$

Cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash end of the period

310,871

42,453
(5,957)
(33,836)
(190)
2,470
25,584

$

28,054

Cash Flows Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities consists of net loss adjusted for non-cash items, such as: depreciation and amortization of property and
equipment and intangible assets, deferred income taxes, share-based compensation, deferred finance charges and for changes in net working
capital assets and liabilities.
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Net cash provided by operating activities was $46,106 and $42,453 for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019, respectively.
The $46,106 of net cash from operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2020 included net loss of $74,001 off set with $66,150 of
non-cash adjustments and changes in operating assets and liabilities of $53,957. The improvement in operating cash flows was driven by
increased in revenue illustrating an increase in sales year over year and offset by a higher operating loss driven by a $14,513 increase in the
provision for income taxes and $16,419 increase in transaction expense related to the acquisition of DRG and the February share offering.
Cash Flows Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities was $900,967 for the three months ended March 31, 2020. Cash flows used in investing is attributable to: and
(1) $885,323 of key business intangible assets acquired from Decision Resource Group, (2) $19,395 in capital expenditures and (3) $3,751 of
divestiture related to the sale of the MarkMonitor AntiFraud, Antipiracy, and Brand Protection products.
Net cash used in investing activities was $5,957 for the three months ended March 31, 2019 reflecting capital expenditures.
Our capital expenditures in both 2020 and 2019 consisted primarily of capitalized labor, consulting and other costs associated with product
development.
Cash Flows Provided by (Used) in Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities was $1,091,606 for the three months ended March 31, 2020. Key drivers of cash flows provided by
financing include: (1) Proceeds of $540,597 from the issuance of ordinary shares related to our public offering, (2) $360,000 from the issuance of the
issuance of an incremental term loan and (3) $278,708 from the exercise of warrants and employee share options This activity was offset by cash
flows used in financing related to: (1) $65,000 repayment of borrowings under the revolving credit facility, (2) $10,420 of payments related to tax
withholdings for stock-based compensation, (3) $4,115 payment related to the TradeMark Vision contingent earn-out, (5) payment of debt issuance
costs related to the issuance of the incremental term loan and (5) $3,150 principle payment on the term loan facility.
Net cash used in financing activities was $33,836 for the three months ended March 31, 2019. Key drivers of cash flows used in financing include a
$30,000 repayment of borrowings under the revolving credit facility and a recurring term loan facility principal repayments of $3,836.
In February 2020, we completed an underwritten public offering of 27,600,000 of our ordinary shares, generating net proceeds of $540,597, which
we used to fund a portion of the cash consideration for the DRG acquisition. In addition, we incurred an incremental $360,000 of term loans under
our term loan facility and used the net proceeds from such borrowings, together with cash on hand, to fund the remainder of the cash
consideration for the DRG acquisition and to pay related fees and expenses.
During the period January 1, 2020 through February 21, 2020, 24,132,666 of the Company’s outstanding warrants were exercised for one ordinary
share per whole warrant at a price of $11.50 per share.
Free Cash Flow (non-GAAP measure)
The following table reconciles free cash flow measure, which is a non-GAAP measure, to net cash provided by operating activities:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2020
2019

(in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

46,106
(19,395)

$

42,453
(5,957)

$

26,711

$

36,496

Capital expenditures
Free cash flow

Free cash flow was $26,711 for the three months ended March 31, 2020, compared to $36,496 for the three months ended March 31, 2019. The
decrease in free cash flow was primarily due to higher capital expenditures.
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Required Reported Data —Standalone Adjusted EBITDA
We are required to report Standalone Adjusted EBITDA, which is substantially similar to Consolidated EBITDA and EBITDA as such terms are
defined under our credit facilities, dated as of October 31, 2019 and the indenture governing our secured notes due 2026 issued by Camelot
Finance S.A. and guaranteed by certain of our subsidiaries, respectively. In addition, the credit facilities and the indenture contain certain
restrictive covenants that govern debt incurrence and the making of restricted payments, among other matters. These restrictive covenants utilize
Standalone Adjusted EBITDA as a primary component of the compliance metric governing our ability to undertake certain actions otherwise
proscribed by such covenants. Standalone Adjusted EBITDA reflects further adjustments to Adjusted EBITDA for cost savings already
implemented and excess standalone costs.
Because Standalone Adjusted EBITDA is required pursuant to the terms of the reporting covenants under the credit facilities and the indenture
and because this metric is relevant to lenders and noteholders, management considers Standalone Adjusted EBITDA to be relevant to the
operation of its business. It is also utilized by management and the compensation committee of the Board as an input for determining incentive
payments to employees.
Excess standalone costs are the difference between our actual standalone company infrastructure costs, and our estimated steady state
standalone infrastructure costs. We make an adjustment for the difference because we have had to incur costs under the transition services
agreement, with Thomson Reuters after we had implemented the infrastructure to replace the services provided pursuant to the transition services
agreement, thereby incurring dual running costs. Furthermore, there has been a ramp up period for establishing and optimizing the necessary
standalone infrastructure. Since our separation from Thomson Reuters, we have had to transition quickly to replace services provided under the
transition services agreement, with optimization of the relevant standalone functions typically following thereafter. Cost savings reflect the
annualized “run rate” expected cost savings, net of actual cost savings realized, related to restructuring and other cost savings initiatives
undertaken during the relevant period.
Standalone Adjusted EBITDA is calculated under the credit facilities and the indenture by using our Consolidated Net Loss for the trailing 12month period (defined in the credit facilities and the indenture as our U.S. GAAP net income adjusted for certain items specified in the credit
facilities and the indenture) adjusted for items including: taxes, interest expense, depreciation and amortization, non-cash charges, expenses related
to capital markets transactions, acquisitions and dispositions, restructuring and business optimization charges and expenses, consulting and
advisory fees, run-rate cost savings to be realized as a result of actions taken or to be taken in connection with an acquisition, disposition,
restructuring or cost savings or similar initiatives, “run rate” expected cost savings, operating expense reductions, restructuring charges and
expenses and synergies related to the transition projected by us, costs related to any management or equity stock plan, other adjustments that
were presented in the offering memorandum used in connection with the issuance of the secured notes due 2026 and earnout obligations incurred
in connection with an acquisition or investment.
The following table reconciles Standalone Adjusted EBITDA to our Net loss for the periods presented:
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Twelve Months Ended March
31,
2020
(in thousands)
Net loss
Provision for income taxes
Depreciation and amortization
Interest, net
Transition services agreement costs(1)
Transition, transformation and integration expense(2)
Deferred revenues adjustment(3)
Transaction related costs(4)
Share-based compensation expense
Restructuring(5)
Legal settlement
Impairment on held for sale

$

Other(6)

(225,718)
24,714
193,826
155,528
6,759
24,140
2,156
62,633
65,676
23,424
(39,399)
18,431
893
313,063

Adjusted EBITDA
Realized foreign exchange gain
DRG Adjusted EBITDA Impact(7)
Cost savings(8)

(5,461)
45,390
44,016
28,521

Excess standalone costs(9)
$

Standalone Adjusted EBITDA

425,529

(1) In 2020, this is related to a new transition services agreement and offset by the reverse transition services agreement from the sale of MarkMonitor assets. In
2019, this includes payments to Thomson Reuters under the Transition Services Agreement.
(2) Includes cash payments in connection with and after our separation from Thomson Reuters in 2016 relating to the implementation of our standalone company
infrastructure and related cost-savings initiatives. These cash payments include mainly transition consulting, technology infrastructure, personnel and severance
expenses relating to our standalone company infrastructure, which are recorded in Transition, integration, and other line-item of our income statement, as well as
cash payments related to the restructuring and transformation of our business following our separation from Thomson Reuters in 2016 mainly related to the
integration of separate business units into one functional organization and enhancements in our technology. This also includes cash payments following our merger
with Churchill Capital Corp in 2019, to streamline our operations by simplifying our organization and focusing on two product groups.
(3) Reflects the deferred revenues adjustment as a result of purchase accounting.
(4) Includes costs incurred to complete business combination transactions, including acquisitions and dispositions, and typically include advisory, legal and other
professional and consulting costs.
(5) Reflects costs incurred in connection with the initiative, following our merger with Churchill Capital Corp in 2019, to streamline our operations by simplifying
our organization and focusing on two product groups.
(6) Includes primarily the net impact of foreign exchange gains and losses related to the re-measurement of balances and other items that do not reflect our ongoing
operating performance.
(7) Represents DRG Adjusted EBITDA for the period beginning April 1, 2020 until the acquisition date of February 28, 2020 to reflect the company's Standalone
EBITDA as though material acquisitions occurred at the beginning of the presented period
(8) Reflects the estimated annualized run-rate cost savings, net of actual cost savings realized, related to restructuring and other cost savings initiatives undertaken
during the period (exclusive of any cost reductions in our estimated standalone operating costs).
(9) Reflects the difference between our actual standalone company infrastructure costs, and our estimated steady state standalone operating costs, which were as
follows:
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Twelve Months Ended March
31,
2020

(in thousands)
Actual standalone company infrastructure costs

$

161,500
(132,979)

$

28,521

Steady state standalone cost estimate
Excess standalone costs

The foregoing adjustments (9) and (10) are estimates and are not intended to represent pro forma adjustments presented within the guidance of
Article 11 of Regulation S-X. Although we believe these estimates are reasonable, actual results may differ from these estimates, and any
difference may be material. See “— Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements”
Debt Profile
During the three months ended March 31, 2020 we incurred an incremental $360,000 of term loans under our term loan facility. There have been no
further material changes to the debt profile associated with our business previously disclosed in "Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity” section in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, except as discussed above and further
set forth below. The disclosures set forth below updates, and should be read together with, the disclosures in the "Item 7. Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity—Debt Profile” section, in our in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
The credit facilities are secured by substantially all of our assets and the assets of all of our U.S. restricted subsidiaries and certain of our non-U.S.
subsidiaries, including those that are or may be borrowers or guarantors under the Credit Facilities, subject to customary exceptions. The credit
facilities contains customary events of default and restrictive covenants that limit us from, among other things, incurring certain additional
indebtedness, issuing preferred stock, making certain restricted payments and investments, certain transfers or sales of assets, entering into
certain affiliate transactions or incurring certain liens. These credit facilities limitations are subject to customary baskets, including certain
limitations on debt incurrence and issuance of preferred stock, subject to compliance with a consolidated coverage ratio of Consolidated EBITDA
(as defined in the credit facilities), a measure substantially similar to our Standalone Adjusted EBITDA disclosed above under “— Required
Reported Data — Standalone Adjusted EBITDA”, to interest and other fixed charges on certain debt (as defined in the credit facilities) of 2.00 to
1.00. In addition, the credit facilities requires us to comply with a springing financial covenant pursuant to which, as of the third quarter of 2019, we
must not exceed a total first lien net leverage ratio (as defined under the credit facilities) of 7.25 to 1.00, to be tested on the last day of any quarter
only when more than 30% of the revolving credit facility (excluding (i) non-cash collateralized, issued and undrawn letters of credit in an amount
up to $10,000 and (ii) any cash collateralized letters of credit) is utilized at such date. As of March 31, 2020, our consolidated coverage ratio was
4.65 to 1.00 and our consolidated leverage ratio was 3.87 to 1.00. As of the date of this Report, we are in compliance with the covenants in the
credit facilities. During the three months ended March 31, 2020, the Company paid down an additional $65,000 drawn on the revolving credit
facility prior to the close of our merger with Churchill Capital Corp. In addition, in connection with the acquisition of DRG, the Company incurred
an incremental $360,000 of term loans under our term loan facility.
Commitments and Contingencies
Our contingent liabilities consist primarily of letters of credit and performance bonds and other similar obligations in the ordinary course of
business. Additionally, the Company has agreed to pay the former shareholders of acquired companies certain amounts in conjunction with the
Publons, TradeMarkVision and Kopernio acquisitions. Regarding the Publons acquisition, the Company agreed to pay the former shareholders up
to an additional $9,500 through 2020. Regarding the TradeMarkVision acquisition, the Company agreed to pay former shareholders earn-out
payments through 2020. Regarding the Kopernio acquisition, the Company agreed to pay contingent consideration of up to $3,500 through 2021.
Amounts payable are contingent upon Publons’, TrademarkVision’s and Kopernio’s achievement of certain milestones and performance metrics.
As of March 31, 2020, the Company had an outstanding liability for Publons of $3,480 related to the estimated fair value of this contingent
consideration included in Accrued expenses and Other current liabilities. As of March 31, 2020, the Company had an outstanding liability for
TradeMarkVision of $0 related to the estimated fair value of this contingent consideration. The Company paid $8,000 of the contingent purchase
price in the three months ended March 31, 2020, as a result of
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TradeMark Vision achieving milestones and performance metrics. As of March 31, 2020, the Company recognized over the concurrent service
period an outstanding liability for Kopernio of $1,269 related to the estimated fair value of this contingent compensation earn-out. The liability is
included in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not currently have any off-balance sheet arrangements and do not have any holdings in variable interest entities.
Contractual Obligations
We have various contractual obligations and commercial commitments that are recorded as liabilities in our financial statements. Other items, such
as purchase obligations and other executory contracts, are not recognized as liabilities in our consolidated financial statements, but are required to
be disclosed.
There have been no material changes, outside of the ordinary course of business, to our contractual obligations as previously disclosed in "Item 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity—Contractual Obligations” section, in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates and Assumptions
There have been no other material changes from the critical accounting policies, estimates, and assumptions previously disclosed in "Item 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates and
Assumptions” section in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, except as set forth below. The disclosures set forth below updates, and should be read
together with, the disclosures in the "Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Critical
Accounting Policies, Estimates and Assumptions” section, in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Accounts Receivable
Through the adoption of ASU 2016-13 and the related standards, the Company revised the policy regarding recognition of the uncollectible
receivables as follows.
Accounts receivable are recorded at the amount invoiced to customers and do not bear interest. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts
for losses resulting from the inability of specific customers to meet their financial obligations, representing our best estimate of probable credit
losses in existing trade accounts receivable. A specific reserve for doubtful receivables is recorded against the amount due from these customers.
We recognize reserves for doubtful receivables utilizing the historical loss method by evaluating factors such as the length of time receivables are
past due, historical collection experience, and the current economic and competitive environment. If any of these estimates change or actual results
differ from expected results, then an adjustment is recorded in the period in which the amounts become reasonably estimable. For all other
customers, we recognize a general reserve based on average yearly write-offs divided by average quarterly accounts receivable aging by risk
buckets.
Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
For recently issued and adopted accounting pronouncements, see "Item 1. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data— Notes to Interim
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements — Note 3” within this Report.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
For information regarding our exposure to certain market risks, see “Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk,” in the
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Interest Rate Risk
Our interest rate risk arises from our long-term borrowings at floating interest rates. Borrowings under our Credit Facilities are subject to floating
base interest rates, plus a margin. As of March 31, 2020, we had $1,256,850 of floating rate debt outstanding under the credit facilities, consisting of
borrowings under the term loan facility for which the base rate was one-month LIBOR (subject, with respect to the term loan facility only, to a floor
of 0.00%, which stood at 0.99%. Of this amount, we hedged $339,724 of our principal amount of our floating rate debt under hedges that we
deemed effective as of March 31, 2020. As a result, $917,126 of our outstanding long-term debt effectively bore interest at floating rates. A 100
basis point increase or decrease in the applicable base interest rate under the Credit Facilities would have had an impact of $2,165 and $3,207 on
our cash interest expense for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. For additional information on our outstanding debt
and related hedging, see Notes 9 and 12 to our unaudited consolidated financial statements in this Report.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.
Pursuant to Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act, we have evaluated, under the supervision and with the participation
of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures,
as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective at a
reasonable assurance level to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports required to be filed or submitted under the Securities
Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and
(ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.
Changes in internal control over financial reporting.
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. Other Information
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we are a party to various lawsuits, claims and other legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business. While
the outcomes of these matters are uncertain, management does not expect that the ultimate costs to resolve these matters will have a material
adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. For additional discussion of legal proceedings, see "Item
1. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data— Notes to Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements — Note 18” in this Report.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors
The restated risk factor set forth below updates the corresponding risk factor previously disclosed in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2019. There have otherwise been no material changes to the risk factors associated with
our business and this updated risk factor should be read together with the risk factors disclosed in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2019.
The international scope of our operations may expose us to increased risk, and our international operations and corporate and financing
structure may expose us to potentially adverse tax consequences.
We have international operations and, accordingly, our business is subject to risks resulting from differing legal and regulatory requirements,
political, social and economic conditions and unforeseeable developments in a variety of jurisdictions. Our international operations are subject to
the following risks, among others:
•

political instability;

•

international hostilities, military actions, terrorist or cyber-terrorist activities, natural disasters, pandemics, and infrastructure disruptions;

•

differing economic cycles and adverse economic conditions;

•

unexpected changes in regulatory environments and government interference in the economy;

•

changes to economic sanctions laws and regulations, including regulatory exemptions that currently authorize certain of our limited
dealings involving sanctioned countries;

•

varying tax regimes, including with respect to the imposition of withholding taxes on remittances and other payments by our partnerships
or subsidiaries;

•

differing labor regulations, particularly in India where we have a significant number of employees;

•

foreign exchange controls and restrictions on repatriation of funds;

•

fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

•

inability to collect payments or seek recourse under or comply with ambiguous or vague commercial or other laws;

•

insufficient protection against product piracy and differing protections for IP rights;

•

varying attitudes towards censorship and the treatment of information service providers by foreign governments, in particular in
emerging markets;

•

difficulties in attracting and retaining qualified management and employees, or rationalizing our workforce;

•

differing business practices, which may require us to enter into agreements that include non-standard terms; and

•

difficulties in penetrating new markets due to entrenched competitors, lack of recognition of our brands or lack of local acceptance of our
products and services.

Our overall success as a global business depends, in part, on our ability to anticipate and effectively manage these risks, and there can be no
assurance that we will be able to do so without incurring unexpected costs. If we are not able to manage the risks related to our international
operations, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially affected.
The spread of COVID-19 has created a global public health crisis and precautionary measures, such as “stay-at-home orders,” have been instituted
by governments to mitigate its spread. In response to the crisis, our workforce has transitioned to a remote working arrangement with limited
impact to our operations. However, the potential impact of the virus and the widespread adoption of these precautionary measures have resulted
in general deterioration in business, economic, and market conditions that could affect our customers. This unprecedented
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environment may negatively impact our customers’ liquidity and their ability to make timely payments. This environment may also impact our thirdparty service providers’ businesses and operations. A prolonged pandemic and delayed recovery could reduce or delay our ability to generate
new subscription revenues or transactional revenues. As the impact of COVID-19 is an evolving situation, we continue to evaluate the impact on
our business, our customer base and the demand for our products and services.
We have expanded our presence in a number of major regions, including China, and any future actions or escalations by either the United States or
China that affect trade relations may cause global economic turmoil and potentially have a negative impact on our business. In particular, we may
have access to fewer business opportunities and our operations in that region may be negatively impacted.
As a result of the international scope of our operations and our corporate and financing structure, we are subject to taxation in, and to the tax laws
and regulations of, multiple jurisdictions. We are also subject to intercompany pricing laws, including those relating to the flow of funds between
our companies pursuant to, for example, purchase agreements, licensing agreements or other arrangements. Adverse developments in these laws
or regulations, or any change in position regarding the application, administration or interpretation of these laws or regulations in any applicable
jurisdiction, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, changes in or the
interpretations of the tax laws or tax treaties of the countries in which we operate may severely and adversely affect our ability to efficiently realize
income or capital gains or mitigate withholding taxes and may subject us to tax and return filing obligations in such countries. Such changes may
increase our tax burden and/or may cause us to incur additional costs and expenses in compliance with such changes. In addition, the tax
authorities in any applicable jurisdiction may disagree with the positions we have taken or intend to take regarding the tax treatment or
characterization of any of our transactions, including the tax treatment or characterization of our indebtedness. If any applicable tax authorities
were to successfully challenge the tax treatment or characterization of any of our transactions, it could result in the disallowance of deductions, the
imposition of withholding taxes, the reallocation of income or other consequences that could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, the U.S. Congress, the UK Government, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (the “OECD”), and other
government agencies in jurisdictions where we and our affiliates do business have had an extended focus on issues related to the taxation of
multinational corporations. Also, within the EU, the European Council Directive 2016/1164 (Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive (“ATAD”)) and
Directive 2017/952 (“ATAD II”) required EU member states to transpose certain measures affecting multinational corporations into national
legislation by December 31, 2019. Further, the introduction of a digital services tax, which at the date hereof has not yet been formally implemented
in these jurisdictions, may increase our tax burden which and could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
None.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information
None.

Item 6. Exhibits
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit Number
3.1
10.1
31
32

101
104

Exhibit Description
Amended and Restated Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association of Clarivate Analytics Plc
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to Clarivate's Form 20-F, filed on May 17, 2019)
Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Shareholders Agreement
Certification of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
The following information from our Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2020, formatted in Inline
eXtensible Business Reporting Language: (i) Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
(unaudited), (ii) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet (unaudited), (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity (unaudited), (iv) Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (unaudited), and (v) the
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited).
The cover page from the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2020,
formatted in Inline XBRL
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized in the City of London, United Kingdom on May 4, 2020.
CLARIVATE ANALYTICS PLC
/s/ Richard Hanks
By:
Name: Richard Hanks
Title: Chief Financial Officer
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Section 2: EX-10.1 (EXHIBIT 10.1 - AMENDMENT NO 1 TO
SHAREHOLDERS AGREEMENT)
AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO
AMENDED AND RESTATED SHAREHOLDERS AGREEMENT
AMENDMENT NO. 1 dated as of April 10, 2020 (this “Amendment”) to the Amended and Restated Shareholders
Agreement, dated as of January 14, 2019, by and among (i) Camelot Holdings (Jersey) Limited, a private limited company
organized under the laws of the Island of Jersey, (ii) Clarivate Analytics Plc, a public limited company organized under the laws of
the Island of Jersey (the “Company”), (iii) the Initial Onex Shareholders, (iv) the Initial Baring Shareholder and (v) the
Management Shareholders (the “Shareholders Agreement”). Capitalized terms used but not defined herein are used as defined
in the Shareholders Agreement.
WHEREAS, the first Annual Meeting of Shareholders following the Closing is scheduled to take place on May 7, 2020
(whenever held, and as postponed or adjourned, the “First Annual Meeting”) and, assuming that Chuck Moran and Amir
Motamedi, each an Onex Director, would otherwise have stood for reelection as a Class I Director at such meeting, the number
of Investor Directors who would not be up for election at such meeting would be six (6) (consisting of Anthony Munk, Kosty
Gilis, Karen Mills and Chuck Neral (each an Onex Director) and Nicholas Macksey and Matthew Scattarella (each a Baring
Director);
WHEREAS, Jay Nadler, previously an Onex Director, resigned from the Board of Directors effective June 30, 2019, and
the Onex Shareholders have not as of the date hereof exercised their right pursuant to Section 2.3 of the Shareholders Agreement
to nominate an individual to fill the vacancy thereby created (the “June 2019 Vacancy”), and since the June 2019 Vacancy, there
have been thirteen (13) members of the Board of Directors;
WHEREAS, at the First Annual Meeting (i) Martin Broughton, Mr. Moran, Mr. Motamedi and Mr. Scattarella
(collectively, the “Departing Directors;” the vacancies on the Board of Directors created by the departures of Messrs. Moran,
Motamedi and Scattarella, together with the June 2019 Vacancy, the “Specified Investor Director Vacancies”) intend to step
down from the Board of Directors and (ii) the Company intends to nominate or renominate, as applicable, to the Board of
Directors, each as a Class I Director, Sheryl von Blucher, Balakrishnan S. Iyer, Jane Okun Bomba and Richard W. Roedel (none
of whom is, or will hereafter be, an Investor Director) (collectively, the “Nominated Directors”);
WHEREAS, the parties hereto have agreed to take all Necessary Action to ensure that, following the First Annual
Meeting, the Departing Directors are no longer members of the Board of Directors and the Nominated Directors have been
elected or reelected, as applicable, to the Board of Directors at the First Annual Meeting;
WHEREAS, assuming the election or reelection to the Board of Directors, as applicable, of the Nominated Directors,
immediately following the First Annual Meeting the Board of Directors will consist of eleven (11) members (the “May 2020
Members”),
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five (5) of whom will be Investor Directors (Mr. Munk, Mr. Gilis, Ms. Mills, Mr. Neral and Mr. Macksey) and six (6) of whom
will not be Investor Directors (Jerre Stead, Michael Klein and the Nominated Directors);
WHEREAS, at a meeting of the Board of Directors currently expected to follow the First Annual Meeting (whenever
held, and as postponed or adjourned, the “May 2020 Board Meeting”), it is expected that the Board of Directors will vote to
change the number of members of the Board of Directors from fourteen (14) to eleven (11);
WHEREAS, the Investor Shareholders currently Beneficially Own, in the aggregate, a number of Company Shares equal
to approximately 59.3% of the total number of Initial Shares; and
WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend Section 2.1(c) of the Shareholders Agreement, clauses (iv) through (ix), as set
forth herein, in order to adjust the Investor Shareholders’ Director nomination rights in view of the foregoing.
NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged,
the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
Section 1. Departure of Departing Directors; Election of Nominated Directors.
(a) The Investor Shareholders and the Company hereby agree to take all Necessary Action (including, without
limitation, such Necessary Actions as are contemplated in the Shareholders Agreement with respect to ensuring the removal of
Directors) to ensure the departure from the Board of Directors by the First Annual Meeting of those Departing Directors who are
Investor Directors.
(b) The Investor Shareholders and the Company hereby agree to take all Necessary Action (including, without
limitation, such Necessary Actions as are contemplated in the Shareholders Agreement with respect to ensuring the election of
Directors) to ensure the election to the Board of Directors at the First Annual Meeting of the Nominated Directors.
Section 2. Reduction in Size of Board. At the May 2020 Board Meeting, the Investor Shareholders will take all
Necessary Action to ensure that the Investor Directors vote to change the number of members of the Board of Directors from
fourteen (14) to eleven (11). The foregoing is without prejudice to the ability of the Board of Directors to subsequently reduce the
number of members of the Board of Directors.
Section 3. Waiver of Right to Fill Specified Investor Director Vacancies. The Investor Shareholders hereby
permanently waive any right under Section 2.3 of the Shareholders Agreement, under the Articles or otherwise to fill any Specified
Investor Director Vacancy and hereby agree that they will not fill any such Specified Investor Director Vacancy at the First
Annual Meeting (which for the avoidance of doubt is the only time such vacancies will arise).
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Section 4. Temporary Waiver of Right to Fill Other Vacancies. The Investor Shareholders hereby waive, until the first
anniversary of the date of this Amendment, any right under Section 2.3 of the Shareholders Agreement, under the Articles or
otherwise to fill any Board of Directors vacancy caused by the departure of any Onex Director who is not an employee of Onex
Corporation or its controlled Subsidiaries (excluding, for greater certainty, any portfolio company of its sponsored private equity
funds), and hereby agree that they will not on their own motion attempt to fill any such vacancy, but instead will take all Necessary
Action (including, without limitation, such Necessary Actions as are contemplated in the Shareholders Agreement with respect to
ensuring the election of Directors) to ensure the election to the Board of Directors of any nominee to fill such vacancy who shall
have been recommended by a majority of the Directors who are not Investor Directors.
Section 5. Amendment to Section 2.1(c) of the Shareholders Agreement. Section 2.1(c) of the Shareholders
Agreement, clauses (iv) through (ix), as set forth therein inclusive, is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
“(iv) for so long as the Investor Shareholders Beneficially Own, in the aggregate, a number of Company Shares
equal to or greater than fifty five percent (55%) of the total number of Initial Shares, the Investor Shareholders shall have
the right to nominate, in the aggregate, a number of Nominees equal to:
(1) if the total number of authorized Directors at the relevant time is eleven (11) or ten (10), five (5) less
the number of Investor Directors who are not up for election; and
(2) if the total number of authorized Directors at the relevant time is nine (9), four (4) less the number of
Investor Directors who are not up for election;
(v) for so long as the Investor Shareholders Beneficially Own, in the aggregate, a number of Company Shares
equal to or greater than fifty percent (50%) of the total number of Initial Shares, the Investor Shareholders shall have the
right to nominate, in the aggregate, a number of Nominees equal to four (4) less the number of Investor Directors who are
not up for election;
(vi) for so long as the Investor Shareholders Beneficially Own, in the aggregate, a number of Company Shares
equal to or greater than forty percent (40%) of the total number of Initial Shares, the Investor Shareholders shall have the
right to nominate, in the aggregate, a number of Nominees equal to:
(1) if the total number of authorized Directors at the relevant time is eleven (11), four (4) less the
number of Investor Directors who are not up for election; and
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(2) if the total number of authorized Directors at the relevant time is ten (10) or nine (9), three (3) less
the number of Investor Directors who are not up for election;
(vii) for so long as the Investor Shareholders Beneficially Own, in the aggregate, a number of Company Shares
equal to or greater than twenty percent (20%) of the total number of Initial Shares, the Investor Shareholders shall have
the right to nominate, in the aggregate, a number of Nominees equal to two (2) less the number of Investor Directors who
are not up for election; and
(viii) for so long as the Investor Shareholders Beneficially Own, in the aggregate, a number of Company Shares
equal to or greater than seven and one half percent (7.5%) of the total number of Initial Shares, the Investor Shareholders
shall have the right to nominate, in the aggregate, a number of Nominees equal to one (1) less the number of Investor
Directors who are not up for election;”
Section 6. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of
the State of Delaware without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of such state or any other
jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than those of the State of Delaware.
[signature pages follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, pursuant to Section 6.8 of the Shareholders Agreement, the parties hereto have executed
this Amendment as of the date first above stated.
CLARIVATE ANALYTICS PLC
By: /s/ Jerre Stead
Name: Jerre Stead
Title: Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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NEW PCO II INVESTMENTS LTD.
By: /s/ Michelle Iskander
Name: Michelle Iskander
Title: Secretary
By: /s/ Christopher A. Govan
Name: Christopher A. Govan
Title: Vice President

ONEX PARTNERS HOLDINGS LLC
By: /s/ Matthew Ross
Name: Matthew Ross
Title: Director

ONEX PARTNERS IV LP
By: Onex Partners IV GP LP,
its general partner
By: Onex Partners Manager LP,
its agent
By: Onex Partners Manager GP ULC,
its general partner
By: /s/ Joshua Hausman
Name: Joshua Hausman
Title: Managing Director
By: /s/ Matthew Ross
Name: Matthew Ross
Title: Managing Director
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ONEX PARTNERS IV PV LP
By: Onex Partners IV GP LP,
its general partner
By: Onex Partners Manager LP,
its agent
By: Onex Partners Manager GP ULC,
its general partner
By: /s/ Joshua Hausman
Name: Joshua Hausman
Title: Managing Director
By: /s/ Matthew Ross
Name: Matthew Ross
Title: Managing Director

ONEX PARTNERS IV SELECT LP
By: Onex Partners IV GP LLC,
its general partner
By: Onex Partners Manager LP,
its agent
By: Onex Partners Manager GP ULC,
its general partner
By: /s/ Joshua Hausman
Name: Joshua Hausman
Title: Managing Director
By: /s/ Matthew Ross
Name: Matthew Ross
Title: Managing Director
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ONEX PARTNERS IV GP LP
By: Onex Partners Manager LP,
its agent
By: Onex Partners Manager GP ULC,
its general partner
By: /s/ Joshua Hausman
Name: Joshua Hausman
Title: Managing Director
By: /s/ Matthew Ross
Name: Matthew Ross
Title: Managing Director

ONEX US PRINCIPALS LP
By: Onex US Principals GP LLC,
its general partner
By: /s/ Matthew Ross
Name: Matthew Ross
Title: Representative

ONEX CAMELOT CO-INVEST LP
By: Onex Partners IV GP LP,
its general partner
By: Onex Partners Manager LP,
its agent
By: Onex Partners Manager GP ULC,
its general partner
By: /s/ Joshua Hausman
Name: Joshua Hausman
Title: Managing Director
By: /s/ Matthew Ross
Name: Matthew Ross

Title: Managing Director
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ELGIN INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
By: /s/ Siddarth Shanp
Name: VSG Corporate Limited
Title: Director

9
(Back To Top)

Section 3: EX-31 (EXHIBIT 31 - CERTIFICATION OF CEO AND CFO
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302)

Exhibit 31
CERTIFICATION
I, Jerre Stead, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this interim report on Form 10-Q of Clarivate Analytics Plc;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this interim report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this interim report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this interim report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this interim
report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this interim report is being prepared;

b)

Paragraph omitted pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a);

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this interim report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this interim report based on
such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this interim report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an interim report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: May 4, 2020

/s/ Jerre Stead
Jerre Stead
Executive Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATION
I, Richard Hanks, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this interim report on Form 10-Q of Clarivate Analytics Plc;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this interim report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this interim report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this interim report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this interim
report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this interim report is being prepared;

b)

Paragraph omitted pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a);

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this interim report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this interim report based on
such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this interim report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an interim report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: May 4, 2020

/s/ Richard Hanks
Richard Hanks
Chief Financial Officer
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Section 4: EX-32 (EXHIBIT 32 - CERTIFICATION OF CEO AND CFO
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906)

Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Interim Report of Clarivate Analytics Plc (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the year ended March 31, 2020 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Jerre Stead, Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify to my knowledge, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350), that:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: May 4, 2020

/s/ Jerre Stead
Jerre Stead
Executive Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Interim Report of Clarivate Analytics Plc (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the year ended March 31, 2020 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Richard Hanks, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify to my
knowledge, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350), that:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: May 4, 2020

/s/ Richard Hanks
Richard Hanks
Chief Financial Officer
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